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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—2-t§ —Z-f C—ET-fF E-mF —E-=%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET FET FET
Results (for the year ended 30 June) %&(BZXA=+RLEE)
— Revenue — W& 140,854 2,090,426 2,544,174 2,720,286 1,953,394
— Adjusted (loss)/profit* — (BR)/ & (ma%) (1,822) 615,855 58,263 273,234 235,793
— Adjusted EBITDA* — REAFIE BB EREH
LB (ERE) 14,381 1,119,556 539,747 829,722 763,534
— (LBITDAJ/EBITDA — RETARE BB FER
B2 (BR)/BH (1,740,377) 485,952 492,152 561,248 605,878
— Attributable (loss)/profit — EE(BR) /57 (1,756,580) (11,764) 8,927 2,148 71,017
— Dividends — ke - - - 16,133 22,537
— (Loss)/earnings per share — BR(BR)/BICEL)
(in HK cents) (178.05) (1.19) 1.03 0.28' 1.03
Financial Position (as at 30 June) BERR(RAA=1A)
— Cash and cash equivalents —BeRBReEE 76,101 74,377 196,407 66,648 84,193
— Total assets — BERE 1,801,716 3,561,067 3,692,025 3,443,636 3,435,694
— Equity — % 1,677,197 3,433,797 3,438,988 3,195,547 3,217,105
Financial Ratios (as at 30 June) BEER(RAAZTR)
— Current assets/Current liabilities — RBEE/THEE 21.75 53.30 15.01 20.83 16.18
— Assets/Equity — BE/% 1.07 1.04 1.07 1.08 1.07
— Sales/Assets — BEE/AE 0.08 0.59 0.69 0.79 0.57
— Gearing ratio — BRI E 0.002 0.002 0.004 0.01 0.008
*  Excluding impairment * ORETARE

+
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Revenue

Kantone Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) reported a revenue for the year
under review of approximately HK$141 million compared
with approximately HK$2,090 million of the previous year, a
decrease of approximately 93 percent. This was mainly due
to the absence of licensing fees as a result of the scaling-
down of the investments in the development of systems
and networks in recent years and after the sale of the non-
exclusive rights to exploit and use the design of the Group's
systems and networks during the year ended 30 June 2016
which would otherwise be exclusive to the Group.

The Group's revenue from the systems sales and licensing
and leasing of system products was mainly generated
by principal subsidiary in United Kingdom — Multitone
Electronics PLC (“Multitone”), which recorded a revenue
for the year under review of approximately HK$141 million
compared with approximately HK$160 million in the previous
year, representing a decrease of approximately 12 percent.
The decrease in revenue was due to the drop in the
exchange rate of Pound Sterling against Hong Kong dollar. In
fact, the revenue denominated in Pound Sterling increased
by 3 percent as compared with the year 2016.

Loss attributable to Owners of the Company

The loss for the year under review is approximately
HK$1,757 million (2016: approximately HK$18 million).
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
is approximately HK$1,757 million (2016: approximately
HK$12 million). The loss was mainly due to the significant
drop in revenue and the impairment losses recognised
for the development costs for systems and networks and
inventories during the year. Loss per share is HK178.05
cents (2016: HK1.19 cents).

a KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)
Distribution Costs

The Group's distribution costs for the year was mainly
incurred by Multitone, which recorded distribution costs
for the year under review of approximately HK$26 million
compared with approximately HK$30 million of the previous
year, representing of a decrease of approximately 13
percent. This was mainly due to the drop in the exchange
rate of Pound Sterling against Hong Kong dollar. In fact, the
distribution costs denominated in Pound Sterling increased
by 4 percent.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year decreased
by approximately 39 percent to approximately HK$51 million
from approximately HK$84 million of previous year as a
result of the business realignment.

Amortisation and Depreciation

Amortisation and depreciation costs for the year significantly
dropped to approximately HK$16 million, compared with
approximately HK$503 million of previous year, due to
the scaling-down in the development of IT systems and
networks.

Impairment Loss

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the directors (the
"Directors”) continuously studied the market conditions of
the information technology industry with the intention to
invest in leading technologies with high earning potential.
However, other than those systems owned and developed
by Multitone, the Directors had not been able to establish
whether the rest of the systems owned by the Group were
still able to generate any revenue to the Group, especially
after the granting to independent third parties during the
year ended 30 June 2016 the non-exclusive right to exploit
and use the design of certain of the Group's developed
systems and networks. Noting that no revenue was
generated from the systems sales and licensing segment in
Asia Pacific region during the year, the Directors considered
it prudent not to project for any positive cash flow from
those systems in the foreseeable future. Therefore,
management decided not to make any further investment
into the existing development projects in Asia Pacific region
but will maintain its investment in the European region as
the relevant technologies are still developing well and the
management of Multitone has kept increasing its market
share in different parts of Europe.

PrESSRAE ()

72 8 A

FAREEZ D HKAEERE Multitone » B
OIS E 815 9 #HR AN 49 26,000,000 BT - BMEF
#730,000,00078 TL R 249 13% © 7 $HBC AR 2
TEEHNEFELETZERTTHRMAH - EE L
NESFEHEZ DHRAIER 4% -

—BRRITHEAX

AREBEEME —BRERTEAIEEFH
84,000,000 8 7T 8 49 39% £ F M1 4751,000,000
BT

BERITE

FE MR R R S RAREGER - FREHE L
WERARAIE B ZE416,000,00058 7T » EF84
7 503,000,000 % 7T ©

HEER

BE_Z— 5 A=ZTRALEE ARAESF
(TESDHEMREMBRITEZ TSR - Fix
ERABRNEN 2 BREAM - AT > B Multitone
BEERREZRZRIN LERRBE-T—XRF
NAZTHIEFERTFELE =T IFBEREN AR
ENFABNAEECRE Z R NBMARETR
EEREEEARERAR ZEREZBGRTDAR/A
SEEAFARE EFIBIAFERAREER
R R 0 AR SE TS A0 M 3R KM [ A (AT IER - RR
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SRMEREFEEERE - EBEFRBONLERZ
BE WHHEREERMDERFERER - B
Multitone & 12 & 1 i 32 I KR EBUN TR E 2
BIRAER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)
Impairment Loss (continued)

The Group had engaged cultural product/jewellery experts
to perform an inspection on the inventories of cultural
products. According to these experts, downgrading and
reclassification were required to be made on a number of
items of cultural products in our inventory. The Group then
engaged an independent professional valuer, Hilco Global
Greater China Limited (“Hilco”), to valuate the Group's
inventories. The results of the valuation prepared by Hilco,
based on the classifications and remarks of the cultural
product/jewellery experts, reflected that the fair value of
a number of the inventory items of cultural products fell
below their carrying amount due to the downgrading and
reclassification, therefore an impairment loss on inventories
of approximately HK$1,740 million were recognised during
the year under review.

Due to the slow-moving properties typical to cultural
products in general, the Directors expect that some of the
inventories would remain unsold 12 months after the end of
reporting period. Management considered that it might not
be surprising to estimate that it might take years to sell all
the inventories. However, no provision has been made in
the accounts of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2017
as the Directors target to sell most, if not all, of the existing
inventories within the next 24 months on a best effort basis.
Any change in market conditions would affect the profit or
loss in future years. At 30 June 2017, the carrying amount
of the Group’'s inventories was approximately HK$1,658
million (2016: approximately HK$3,397 million).

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year decreased to approximately
HK$0.1 million from approximately HK$0.4 million of the
previous year, which was due to with the partial repayment
of bank loans during the year.

a KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

With the change in management in October 2016, the new
management adopted a strategic plan in realigning the
existing businesses, namely to sell the inventories, further
developing the systems sales and licensing business in the
United Kingdom and tapping into the business opportunity in
the PRC sector.

The resignation and retirement of the old management
coincided with the disintegration of all the previous sale
channels and business networks of the sales of cultural
products. Therefore the Group had to re-build the new sale
channels and business networks for the sales of cultural
products.

The Group's wholly-owned U.K. subsidiary — Multitone,
which is a leading provider of Messaging-System Solutions
to Healthcare, Aged Care, Local Government and Retail
Markets, has continued enhancing its existing systems
and inventing new systems to cater for the needs of its
customers. Multitone is specialised in the design and
manufacturing of communication systems and equipment,
specifically, the development and delivery of integrated
critical messaging system solutions.

The Company’'s management currently works in collaboration
with Multitone to introduce its products into the Hong Kong
and China market. And, following the visit of Multitone's
management to Hong Kong recently, the Group's
management has confirmed its full support for Multitone to
open up the market in Greater China.

The Group has been exploring opportunities for the systems
sales and licensing segment to broaden the geographic base
of customers, especially to the PRC market, and to enlarge
the sales channel and business network for the sale of
cultural products segment, and expect to generate positive
results in due course.

E 3 3C1)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

A review of the operations of the Group during the year
is provided in the section headed “Review of Operations”
above and the prospect of the Group’'s future business
development generally remains unchanged as stated in
the Company’s interim report for the six months ended 31
December 2016 (“Interim Report 2016/2017").

Overview

Concerns over the tensions related to North Korea and the
possibility of swifter rate hikes from the Fed have driven
some investors to flee from risk assets but we believe
the probability is low of a major escalation in North Korean
tensions or a sharp Fed tightening.

As the financial market fundamentals remain healthy and
the global economy is solid, we remain confident that the
financial markets can fetch higher in the coming years.

We have a guarded outlook for China property development
in view of the tightening liquidity and property cooling
policies. However, similar to the phenomenon in the past
few years, the upward trend of Shenzhen property as
well as those located in the extended Shenzhen areas are
expected to grow continually irrespective of the general
property market conditions.

Cultural Artifacts Investment

There are quite a number of artifacts and Shoushan
Tianhuang Stones and Changhua Tianhuang in the Group's
inventory. Tianhuang Stones are generally conceived as the
"King of Stones"” in China. These jewelry stones from Fujian
and Zhejiang provinces were said to be worth its weight
in gold, which has long been reflected in the market price
that the current price is higher than the value of gold. The
management attaches great importance to these valuable
assets, while the Group believes that by virtue of the
advantages of this resource, the realisation plan for these
artifacts can be implemented.

To determine its upward trend over the past few years, the
management has appointed an independent valuer to revalue
the value of Tianhuang jewelry stones.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK (continued)
Investment Plan In Auction Business

Auction businesses are experiencing a new lease on life,
thanks to reality TV shows featuring auctioneers and
antigue hunters. It's not that auction businesses have
ever disappeared from the landscape, but that scores of
buyers are waking up to the idea of buying secondhand
merchandise in an auction environment.

The Group has planned to recruit elite and skilled
auctioneers to develop auction house projects. In addition,
the Group considers switching to live auction as one of the
ways to improve market share of the project itself.

Strong Rooms & Vaults

The Group intends to match its business plan in auction
house by entering into the security industry, with the
aim to design and build high security, prefabricated and
modular strong rooms for sale and leasing. These high
quality, secured structures enable the storage of high-value
items away from the risk of theft, attack or hostage taking.
The main features of these security systems render that
clients’ privacy being protected, ensure lowest holding and
transaction costs in auction related transactions by enabling
direct warehousing before and after auction while taking the
advantage of Hong Kong's duty-free policy for most artifacts.

Based on the above cultural artifacts investment, the
investment plan in auction business, and the investment in
the strong rooms and vault, the Group is confident with the
future because the success of these three investments can
make the Group's trade-related transactions proceed in bulk
trading mode afterwards, while it also allows the public to
have a better channel to be involved, so as to pave way for
the future of artifacts securitisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK (continued)
Communication Systems

Multitone has taken a substantial market share in both UK
and Germany. Targeted new markets to be explored include
Asia and Eastern Europe. Multitone will work in collaboration
with the Group’s management in Hong Kong to introduce
its products into the China market. Management considers
that there is a strong demand for relevant communication
systems and equipment in China. On the other hand, the
Group’s management would work closely with Multitone in
identifying high quality electronic products made in China
and distribute them through the present well-established
distribution channel in Europe.

Education Business
Investment Plan in Preschool Education

According to the result of the 6th Census of Population of
Mainland China, the number of infants under the age of
6 was 105 million, among which 22.91 million dwelled in
cities, and 82.16 million in rural areas.

The per capita disposable income of China of 2015 is
RMB21,966, increase by 8.9% than the previous vyear,
people in China would cater for higher quality life and
education for the next generation.

China is experiencing a peak of childbearing couples
between at the age of between 20-29, and with the fourth
"Baby Boom" and the introduction of “Two Children Policy”,
we have strong reason to expect an enormous market of
infants and children education.

To cite the National Middle and Long Term Reform and
Development Outlines for Education (2010-2020), the market
size of preprimary education is RMB350 billion annually, with
RMB150 billion of infant education under age of 3, which
would experience 15% compounded growth, and RMB200
billion for market of age of 3-6, with 20% compounded
growth each year.

According to the data from the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, by 2015, there were 233,683 kindergartens in
Mainland China, an 11.3% increase of 23,802 compared to
2014. Among which, 146,376 kindergartens were private
invested and operated, which stood for 62.6%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK (continued)
Education Business (continued)
Investment Plan in Preschool Education (continued)

It's estimated that the total number of kindergartens in
Mainland China would reach over 300,000 by the year 2020,
and among which 200,000 would be private-invested.

It's clear to conclude that the preschool market in Mainland
China stand for huge opportunity.

In order to seize the enormous commercial opportunity
in China’'s preschool market, the Group intends to set up
platform company for the purpose of education projects
investment and management, and to combine and integrate
quality resources into the platform for education projects
development.

Internal Control

Since a reliable and cost efficient Internal Control system
is fundamental to the successful operation and day-to-
day running of a business and in achieving its business
objectives, the new management has engaged a professional
internal control consultant to conduct a study of the Group's
(excluding those of Multitone) overall operations, which,
based on new management’s own observations and studies,
the current operations are found to be reliable and effective.
The board of Directors (the “Board”) is implementing the
recommendations suggested by this consultant to improve
the overall internal control of the Group and to prevent
recurrence of previous deficiencies.

The finalisation of this report is completed, the management
is taking some appropriate remedial actions and to rectify
any deficiencies while new systems will be implemented to
ensure that future business will be conducted in an efficient
and proper manner. The management is confident that once
the new system is in place, the Group's business revenue
and therefore the profits will be greatly enhanced.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK (continued)

Internal Control (continued)

As stated in our Interim Report 2016/2017, the Group
would try to seek this consultant’s advice to incorporate
and implement better internal control over the strategic,
governance and management processes, covering the
company’s entire range of activities and operations on top of
those directly related to financial operations and reporting.
Our long-term target aims to cover not only those aspects
of a business that could broadly be defined as compliance
matters, but extends also to the performance aspects of the
business.

The management understands that good internal controls
need to be responsive to the specific nature and needs
of the business. Hence, the Group would seek to reflect
sound business practice, remain relevant over time in the
continuously evolving business environment and enable the
Group to respond to the specific needs of the business and
industry.

Eventually, the Group’'s management hopes to see that
business opportunities are maximised and potential losses
associated with unwanted events minimized.

DIRECTORS’ VIEW ON THE INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S OPINION

Presumably, auditing standards and guidelines should
mean to guide the auditors to express audit opinions which
would lead the readers of audit reports to have a better
understanding rather than misunderstanding of the financial
reports.

While the Directors understand that the auditors are
obligated to adhere strictly to the auditing standards and
guidelines without the freedom to explain in their audit
reports to the readers specifically as to whether the other
parts of the financial statements in which the auditors have
not encountered any limitation are indeed proper, true and
fair.

In this respect and with regret, such auditing standards
and guidelines are apparently not rational because it could
easily lead the public readers to draw the wrong conclusion
that the rest of the information disclosed in the financial
statements are not reliable or having created limitation to
the work of the auditors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DIRECTORS’ VIEW ON THE INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S OPINION (continued)

The independent auditor of the Company has issued
a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2017,
details of the disclaimer of opinion are disclosed in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 71 to 75 of this
report.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Financial Position and Gearing

The Group's financial position remained positive with a
reasonable gearing throughout the Year.

As at 30 June 2017, the Group had approximately
HK$76 million (2016: approximately HK$74 million) liquid
assets made up of deposits, bank balances and cash.
Current assets were approximately HK$1,770 million
(2016: approximately HK$3,506 million) and current
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$64 million (2016:
approximately HK$66 million). With net current assets
of approximately HK$1,707 million (2016: approximately
HK$3,440 million), the Group maintained a comfortable level
of liquidity. The gearing ratio of the Group, defined as the
Group's total borrowings of approximately HK$3.6 million
(2016: approximately HK$7.4 million) to equity attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$1,677 million
(2016: approximately HK$3,434 million), was 0.002 (2016:
0.002).

As at 30 June 2017, the Group's total borrowings comprised
bank loans of approximately HK$3.6 million (2016:
approximately HK$7.4 million), which was repayable within
one year (2016: approximately HK$3.7 million repayable
within one year, approximately HK$3.7 million repayable in
the second year). Finance costs for the year decreased to
approximately HK$0.1 million (2016: approximately HK$0.4
million).

Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to financial prudence and maintains
a positive financial position with low gearing. The Group
finances its operation and business development by a
combination of internally generated resources, capital market
instruments and banking facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(continued)
Treasury Policy (continued)

All the borrowings were used by subsidiaries of the
Company bearing interest at floating rates and were
denominated in their local currencies. As such, the currency
risk exposure associated with the Group’s borrowings was
insignificant.

The Group does not engage in any speculative derivatives
or structured product transactions, interest rate or foreign
exchange speculative activities. It is the Group’s policy to
manage foreign exchange risk through matching foreign
exchange income with expense, and where exposure
to foreign exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging
instruments will be used.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 June 2017, the Group's capital commitments which
were authorised but not contracted for was nil (2016: HK$10
million). These commitments were related to the acquisition
of property, plant and equipment, and development of
systems and networks.

Charges

The Group did not have any charges on assets as at 30 June
2017.

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2017, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

Significant investments held, material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, and future plans
for material investments or capital assets

There were no significant investments held, no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year ended 30 June 2017.

There is no plan for other material investments or additions
of capital assets as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

LIU Ka Lim, aged 61, has been an executive Director and
an authorised representative of the Company since October
2016. He has over 29 years of professional experience in
the field of finance and accounting. He is a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Liu is currently
an executive director of Champion Technology Holdings
Limited (“Champion”), which is the holding company
of the Company holding 64.94% of the issued shares of
the Company as at the date of this report and the issued
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
During March 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Liu was the
Chairman of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as
Sun International Resources Limited), a company listed on
the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange. During October 2003
to March 2006, Mr. Liu was the Chairman of Wonderful
World Holdings Limited (now known as Good Resources
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. During January 2011 to June 2013, Mr.
Liu was a non-executive director of United Pacific Industries
Limited (now known as Superactive Group Company
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

TO Yin Fong Cecilica, aged 37, has been a non-executive
Director since July 2017. Ms. To is currently a Barrister-
at-Law. Ms. To holds a postgraduate certificate in laws
from University of Hong Kong and a graduate diploma in
English and Hong Kong law from Manchester Metropolitan
University. Ms. To was admitted as a barrister of the High
Court of HKSAR in 2009. Ms. To has about 8 years of
experience in the legal field. Ms. To is currently a non-
executive director of Champion.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

R-ZF—tFAA=t+NA
AS AT 29 SEPTEMBER 2017

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Miranda HO Mo Han, aged 47, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2008 and is the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company. She is
a director of Billy Ho and Associates CPA Limited and is a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants; a Fellow Member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors; and an Associate
Member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She holds a Master's degree in Business
Administration from Oklahoma City University, US. Ms.
Ho has participated in community services as a member
of the Federation of Hong Kong Zhong Shan Community
Organisations Limited for years.

CHUNG Sau Wai Ada, aged 45, has been an independent
non-executive Director since July 2017. Ms. Chung with
experience in auditing and accounting. Ms. Chung held
various senior positions in professional firms and commercial
field, including accounting manager of a listed company in
Hong Kong. Ms. Chung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
York University and a diploma in accounting from The School
of Professional and Continuing Education of The University
of Hong Kong. Ms. Chung is a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of British Columbia, Canada.

Clayton IP, aged 39, has been an independent non-
executive Director since June 2017. Mr. Ip is a business
entrepreneur and has over 10 years of experience in
corporate administration, management and investment. Mr.
Ip is specialised in the printing and self storage industry.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

COMPANY SECRETARY

CHAN Wai, aged 48, has been the company secretary
of the Company since October 2016, and he is also the
chief financial officer and an authorised representative of
the Company. Mr. Chan has experience in accounting and
financial management. Mr. Chan holds a master degree
in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Chan is
currently the chief financial officer, company secretary and
an authorised representative of Champion.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Stephen Alan GENTRY, 61, is the Group's Head of
International Business and the Chief Executive of Multitone,
a member company of the Group, with responsibilities for
formulating the overall policy and development strategy for
the Group's international operations. He is also a director of
several of the Group's subsidiaries. He joined the Group in
1988 as financial accountant of the UK operations, and has
considerable experience working for the Group’s various
European and American operations. He has been the Chief
Executive of Multitone since 2003 and is a member of the
Institute of Directors.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

R-ZF—tFAA=t+NA
AS AT 29 SEPTEMBER 2017

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Frank ROTTHOFF, 54, is the Managing Director of the
Group's German operations. He joined the Group in 2008
and has extensive experience in sales and marketing
management in the electronics industry. His earlier career
covered international sales of industrial machinery and
process technology before entering the semiconductor
sector in 1989. He was responsible for the sales organisation
of a leading European distributor of electronic components
before joining the Group.

Terry John MILLER, 78, has been a consultant of the Group
since March 2017. Previously, he held the position of Deputy
Chief Executive at Hong Kong Telecommunications Limited,
and was the Regional Director, Asia/Pacific, of Cable &
Wireless PLC. He is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and is the former
president of the Hong Kong Institute of the International
Association of Financial Executives.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in sales of cultural
products, sales of systems and licensing (including sales of
systems products, software licensing and customisation and
provision of services) and leasing of systems products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business objectives of the Group are to develop its
business and achieve sustainable growth of its business.
The Group aims to achieve such objectives by pursuing
the following growth-oriented strategies: (i) broadening the
customer base of the systems sales and licensing business
of the Group; and (ii) improving the sale channel and
business network of the sales of cultural products business
of the Group.

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year
using the financial indicators and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are provided in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
in this report. No important event affecting the Group has
occured since the end of the year under review.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Business Risk

Certain of the business segments to which the Group
operates are subject to changes in consumer perception,
preferences and tastes, in particular, for the systems sales
and licensing business as well as the sales of cultural
products business. The Group's business and financial
performance depends on factors which may affect the level
and pattern of consumer spending in Europe and in China.

Market Risk

The business and operation of the systems sales and
licensing business of the Group is basically conducted in
the United Kingdom whereas the business and operation
of another main business segment of the Group, the sales
of cultural products business, is basically conducted in the
PRC and Hong Kong and its customers are primarily the
PRC and Hong Kong based collectors, therefore the Group's
operation, revenue and profit margin are highly impacting
by the economies of the United Kingdom the PRC and
Hong Kong and the measures implemented by the PRC
government.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational
risks basically rests with every function at divisional and
departmental levels. The Group recognises that operational
risks cannot be eliminated completely and that it may not
always be cost effective to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The
Group will identify and assess key operational exposures
from time to time and report such risk issues to senior
management as early as possible so that appropriate risk
response can be taken.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits
or adverse judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively
affect the operations or financial conditions of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection
and energy conservation to enhance the capacity of
sustainable development and undertake relative social
responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and
environment protection were strongly promoted, leading to
the remarkable achievement of environmental management.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those
have a significant impact on the Group. Save as otherwise
disclosed and as far as the Board and management are
aware, the Group has complied with all related laws and
regulations in all material aspects which may have significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and
business partners are the key to have continuous sustainable
development. The Company is committed to be people-
oriented and build up good relationship with its employees.
The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression.
Through different trainings, staff's professional knowledge
in corporate operations, occupational and management skills
are enhanced. The Group also values the health and well-
being of its staff. In order to provide employees with health
coverage, its employees are entitled to medical insurance
with body check benefits. The Group also works together
with its business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development
and contribution to the society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its distributors and/or customers during the year

under review.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 76 to 77 and
in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2017 (2016:
nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion of the Group's
business and to capture investment opportunities arising in
the future. There is no arrangement that a shareholder of
the Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 80 to 81 and note
33 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2017, the Company has HK$31,037,000
reserve available for distribution to the shareholders (2016:
Nil).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
168.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for the
two years ended 30 June 2016 and 2017.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (appointed on 3 October 2016)

Mr. CHENG Yang (Chairman) (appointed on 3 October 2016
and resigned on 15 August 2017)

Ms. LEI Lei (appointed on 20 March 2017 and resigned on
7 July 2017)

Mr. LIN Xiang (appointed on 20 March 2017 and resigned
on 7 July 2017)

Professor Paul KAN Man Lok (Chairman) (resigned on
30 September 2016)

Mr. LAl Yat Kwong (Acting Chief Executive Officer) (resigned
on 3 October 2016)

Ms. Shirley HA Suk Ling (retired on 13 December 2016)

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (appointed on 7 July 2017)
Mr. Leo KAN Kin Leung (resigned on 3 October 2016)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Miranda HO Mo Han

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada (appointed on 11 July 2017)

Mr. Clayton IP (appointed on 14 June 2017)

Mr. YANG Rusheng (appointed on 13 December 2016
and resigned on 11 July 2017)

Mr. Frank BLEACKLEY (resigned on 20 March 2017)

Professor Julia TSUEI Jo (retired on 13 December 2016)

In accordance with article 87(1) of the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), one-third
of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation so that each
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years.

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles of
Association, any Director appointed by the Board at any
time either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

(continued)

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation) as at
the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1)
OF THE RULES GOVERNING THE LISTING
OF SECURITIES ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE
(THE “LISTING RULES”)

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
in information of the Directors are set out below:

(a) The director emolument for Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica,
a non-executive Director, was set at HK$15,000 per
month with effect from 7 July 2017.

(b) The director emolument for Ms. Miranda Ho Mo
Han, an independent non-executive Director, was
renewed to HK$200,000 per annum with effect from
13 December 2016.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in the
Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND DIRECTORS’
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Each of the Company and its ultimate holding company,
Champion, has a share option scheme under which eligible
persons, including directors of the Company, Champion or
any of their respective subsidiaries, may be granted options
to subscribe for shares of the Company and Champion
respectively.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company and
Champion are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other than the share option schemes described in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding
companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

None of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") as at 30 June
2017 as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set forth under
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company and any
of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review the Group did not conduct any
non-exempt connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group had entered
into certain transactions with parties which were regarded
as "Related Parties” under the applicable accounting
principles. Details of those related party transactions are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions
under the Listing Rules are further disclosed in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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PERSONS WHO HAVE AN INTEREST OR
SHORT POSITION WHICH IS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER DIVISION 2 AND 3 OF PART

XV OF THE SFO AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2017, the following person (other than the
interests of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ interests and
short positions in securities” above) had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

BEREEZRPERGISE XV ARE
2RITHEATHERBRABZA
TURERF ZEBZRR

RZB—tFRNA=+HE REEFRBEKRNE
BIFEMEARAATHFE 2 ELMALE - T
AT (EXTEZZRAFRERRE | —BABEAR
RABERTRERZERRINNARE 2 KD
KRB A ERTIORR

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Name Capacity Number of shares share capital
EERTREZ
a8 54 ROHE Bk =
Champion Beneficial owner 640,689,792 64.94%
HE BRBEBA
Southwest Securities International Interest of controlled corporation 640,689,792 64.94%
Securities Limited REHEE R
(Note 1)
(Bit1)
AEEFRNERAF Interest of controlled corporation 640,689,792 64.94%
(Note 1) REHEE R
(hiet1)
EENEEENEERERBRAT Interest of controlled corporation 640,689,792 64.94%
(Note 1) RS EEER
(Met1)
Note: Kt -

1. 640,689,792 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 64.94% of the issued share capital of the
Company, owned by Champion were pledged to Southwest
Securities (HK) Finance Limited under a facility agreement
between Champion and Southwest Securities (HK) Finance
Limited. According to the disclosure of interests forms of
substantial shareholders filed on 9 March 2017, Southwest
Securities (HK) Finance Limited is wholly owned by Southwest
Securities International Securities Limited, which is in turn
owned as to 74.22% by PREEAFRMHBABRAE, which is in
turn owned as to 26.99% by EEAEEELLEEEBARA
Al
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PERSONS WHO HAVE AN INTEREST OR
SHORT POSITION WHICH IS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER DIVISION 2 AND 3 OF PART

XV OF THE SFO AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2017, according to
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO, there was no person who
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or other similar rights as at 30 June 2017
and there had been no exercise of any convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 30 June 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers who act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from
suppliers who act as its merchandisers.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

(continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2017, sales to the Group's five
largest customers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 13.8% of the total revenue for the year
and sales to the largest customer, on individual entity
basis, included therein amounted to approximately 3.4%.
Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers, on
individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 27.6%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the
largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein
amounted to approximately 9.1%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders, which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had
any interest in the share capital of the five largest customers
or suppliers of the Company.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2017, the Group employed about 210 staff
around the globe. Staff costs for the year ended 30 June
2017 were HK$76 million (2016: HK$95 million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is
determined with reference to market terms and the
performance, qualifications and experience of the individual
employee.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee of the
Company after considering factors such as the Company's
operating results, individual performance, salaries paid
by comparable companies, and time commitment and
responsibilities of the relevant director.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
scheme are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of
this report, there is sufficient public float of not less than
25% of the Company's issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Group has taken out a Directors’ liability insurance to
cover Directors’ liabilities to third parties.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this
report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the
Directors and senior management of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2017 are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as auditor of the
Company on 16 August 2016. On 17 August 2016, the
Company appointed Moore Stephens CPA Limited as auditor
for the year ended 30 June 2016. On 13 December 2016,
Moore Stephens CPA Limited was re-appointed as auditor of
the Company for the year ended 30 June 2017.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Moore
Stephens CPA Limited as auditor of the Company for the
year ending 30 June 2018.

By order of the Board

LIU Ka Lim
Executive Director

Hong Kong
29 September 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company
are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group's goals. The
Company believes that good corporate governance provides
a framework that is essential for effective management,
successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture,
thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. By
applying rigourous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will
be improved thereby instilling confidence to shareholders
and the public. The Company has been conducting its
business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules during the year ended 30 June 2017.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2017, the
Group has complied with the code provisions in the CG
Code save for the deviation of code provision A.4.1 of the
CG Code, details of which will be explained in the relevant
paragraphs in this report. The Board will review its corporate
governance practice annually and make necessary changes
if necessary. Meetings were held throughout the year under
review and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance
notes were issued to Directors and senior management of
the Group to ensure they were aware of issues regarding
corporate governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group's business, strategic
decisions and performances and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes
responsibility for decision making in all major matters of
the Company including the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets and
overall strategies, the entering into material transactions,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated
to the senior executives and the management. Their
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions
made by the Board, the co-ordination and direction of day-
to-day operation and management of the Company in
accordance with the management strategies and plans
approved by the Board. The Board receives full support
from senior executives to discharge its responsibility.
Prior approval has to be obtained from the Board before
entering into any significant transactions. The statement of
the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 71 to
75 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the
date of this report was as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (appointed on 3 October 2016)

Mr. CHENG Yang (Chairman) (appointed on 3 October 2016
and resigned on 15 August 2017)

Ms. LEI Lei (appointed on 20 March 2017 and resigned on
7 July 2017)

Mr. LIN Xiang (appointed on 20 March 2017 and resigned
on 7 July 2017)

Professor Paul KAN Man Lok (Chairman) (resigned on
30 September 2016)

Mr. LAl Yat Kwong (Acting Chief Executive Officer) (resigned
on 3 October 2016)

Ms. Shirley HA Suk Ling (retired on 13 December 2016)
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THE BOARD (continued)
Composition (continued)
Non-executive Directors:

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (appointed on 7 July 2017)
Mr. Leo KAN Kin Leung (resigned on 3 October 2016)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Miranda HO Mo Han

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada (appointed on 11 July 2017)

Mr. Clayton IP (appointed on 14 June 2017)

Mr. YANG Rusheng (appointed on 13 December 2016
and resigned on 11 July 2017)

Mr. Frank BLEACKLEY (resigned on 20 March 2017)

Professor Julia TSUEI Jo (retired on 13 December 2016)

One of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate accounting and financial management expertise.
The number of independent non-executive Directors is more
than one-third of the Board. Biographical details of the other
Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors
and senior management profile” on pages 17 to 20 of this
report.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors
is considered by the Board to be a reasonable balance
between executive and non-executive Directors. The
Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and of the Group. The independent non-
executive Directors provide to the Group with a wide range
of expertise and experience so that independent judgement
can be exercised effectively. They have also participated in
Board meetings and general meetings, dealt with potential
conflicts of interest, served on audit committee, human
resources and remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company and scrutinized the Group's
performance and reporting. Through their active participation,
the management process of the Company can be critically
reviewed and controlled.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Composition (continued)

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal and
professional ethics and integrity. All Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the Company's affairs. The
Board believes that the ratio between executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors is reasonable and
adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new
Director and nomination for re-election by shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company. Under the
Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time
appoint a Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. Any new Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office until the next annual general meeting after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of Chairman was performed by Mr. Cheng Yang,
who was also an executive Director, and he provided
leadership and was responsible for the overall strategic
planning and development of the Group and the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. Mr. Cheng Yang
resigned as an executive director and the Chairman of the
Company with effect from 15 August 2017.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (continued)

Mr. Lai Yat Kwong, who was an executive Director, acted as
the Acting Chief Executive Officer and he was responsible
for overall management of the Group's day-to-day
operations. Mr. Lai Yat Kwong resigned as an executive
Director and the Acting Chief Executive Officer of the
Company with effect from 3 October 2016.

Following the resignation of Mr. Lai Yat Kwong as the Acting
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 3 October 2016,
the Company has no such titles as the Chief Executive
Officer nor the Acting Chief Executive Officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has
been monitored by the executive Directors as well as the
senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief
Executive Officer, the balance of power and authority is
ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises
experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as
such in all corporate communications containing the names
of the Directors. In addition, there is no material relationship
between Board members.
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DEVIATION FROM THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 30 June 2017, the Company has
complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, save and except the following deviation:

Term of appointment of non-executive Directors

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-
executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Whilst the non-executive Directors
are not appointed for a specific term, the term of office for
non-executive Directors is subject to retirement from office
by rotation and is eligible for re-election in accordance with
the provisions of the Articles of Association. At each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, (or if their number is not a multiple of
three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation so that each Director shall
be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
As such, the Company considers that such provision is
sufficient to meet the underlying objectives of CG Code.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 3.10(1)
AND 3.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 3.10(1) and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
every board of directors of a listed issuer must include at
least three independent non-executive directors and the audit
committee must comprise a minimum of three members.
Following the resignation of Mr. Frank Bleackley as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of the audit
committee of the Company with effect from 20 March 2017,
the number of independent non-executive Directors fell below
the minimum number of three as required under Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules, and the number of members of the audit
committee of the Company fell below the minimum number
prescribed under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. Following of the
appointment of Mr. Clayton Ip as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the audit committee of the Company
with effect from 14 June 2017, the Company is in compliance
with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
electronic means of communication at least four times
every year to determine the overall strategic direction,
objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or
other significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular
meetings are provided to all Directors for comments and
inclusion of any matters for deliberation at the meetings.
Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management
from time to time provides to the Directors information on
activities and development of the business of the Group.
The company secretary assists the chairman in preparing
agenda for the meetings and ensures that all applicable
rules and regulations in connection with the meetings
are observed and complied with. The agenda and Board
papers are then sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior
to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision
resolved at the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the
meetings of the Board, audit committee, human resources
and remuneration committee and nomination committee
held during the year are set out below:

Audit Committee

Board Meeting Meeting

attended/Eligible attended/Eligible

Name of Directors attended attended
Bt/

BHRE/ RERLE

RERER 2B

Esps ZEEEEE ZEEEE

EEggERkREAS#H)

BRI

Human

Resources and

Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Annual General
Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/Eligible attended/Eligible attended/Eligible
attended attended attended
Bt/
REREREZ BHE/ BitiE/

ANERRFH RERLEZ RERLREZ
ZEEEE REZEEEE BRREFAE

Executive Directors

BTES

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (appointed 6/6 —
on 3 October 2016)
BEREERZIZ—RF
+AZREZT)
Mr. CHENG Yang 5/6 —
(appointed on 3 October
2016 and resigned on 15
August 2017)
BErE(RZZ—RFTA
“HEZAUR=Z—+F
NATHAEE)
Ms. LEI Lei (appointed 17 —
on 20 March 2017 and
resigned on 7 July 2017)
BERT(RZZE—+F
“AZTREZGEIR
ZE-ELAEARME)
Mr. LIN Xiang (appointed 11 —
on 20 March 2017 and
resigned on 7 July 2017)
MERE(RZE—+F
ZAZTBEZAUR
“E—tFLACARHE)

T+ FER EREMBERAA @
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

EEgEERREAS )

Human
Resources and

Remuneration Nomination
Audit Committee Committee Committee Annual General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/Eligible attended/Eligible attended/Eligible attended/Eligible attended/Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended
BHE/ L::)-74
BHE/ RERLE RERLEZ BHE/ BitifE/
RERLE ZEH ANER R 5B FERLREZ REREEZ
EEpg ZESEEE ZEgEE ZE8EE REZEEER RREFAE
Executive Directors (continued)
HITER(E)
Professor Paul KAN Man Lok 2/3 — — 0/0 —
(resigned on 30 September
2016)
EXREAR (R ZT—RF
NA=ZTRFE)
Mr. LAl Yat Kwong (resigned 3/4 — — — —
on 3 October 2016)
BAXEE(RZZ-—RF
+AZH#I)
Ms. Shirley HA Suk Ling 4/6 — 11 /1 1/1
(retired on 13 December
2016)
ERREL(RZZE—RE
+=A+=BR&HF)
Non-Executive Director
FHTES
Mr. Leo KAN Kin Leung 4/4 2/2 111 — —
(resigned on 3 October
2016)
BEREE(RZZ—RF
+E=ZB&IT)
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EEggdRBRREARE @
MEETINGS (continued)
Human
Resources and
Remuneration Nomination
Audit Committee Committee Committee Annual General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/Eligible attended/Eligible attended/Eligible attended/Eligible attended/Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended
BHE/ L::)-74
BHE/ RERLE RERLEZ BHE/ BitifE/
RERLE ZEH ANER R 5B FERLREZ REREEZ
EEpg ZESEEE ZEgEE ZE8EE REZEEER RREFAE
Independent Non-Executive
Directors
BYHTES
Ms. Miranda HO Mo Han 6/10 3/3 2/3 2/3 /1
ARELL
Mr. Clayton IP (appointed 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 —
on 14 June 2017)
ERBEE(RZT—+F
NATHBEZRA)
Mr. YANG Rusheng (appointed 3/4 17 2/2 2/2 —
on 13 December 2016 and
resigned on 11 July 2017)
BOELE(RZT—RF
+ZA+=REZFETR
ZE—tELAT-REME)
Mr. Frank BLEACKLEY 9/9 3/3 2/2 2/2 17
(resigned on 20 March
2017)
Frank Bleackley &
(RZF—tF=A=1+H
BHE)
Professor Julia TSUEI Jo 2/6 2/2 on 0N 0/1
(retired on 13 December
2016)
ERHE(RZT—RF
+ZA+=BRMA)

T — + 45 R EREEBRAA ﬁ
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss
and formulate the overall strategies of the Group, monitor
financial performances, review the annual and interim
results, and make decisions on other significant matters.
The execution of daily operational matters is delegated to
the senior executives of the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions resolved by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information
at all times and they may make further enquiries if it is
necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and
services of the company secretary, who is held responsible
for providing Directors with Board papers and other related
materials. The company secretary also ensures that proper
Board procedures are followed and that all applicable laws
and regulations are complied with. If the Directors consider
necessary and appropriate, they may retain the service of
independent professional advisers at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
resolved in a physical meeting instead of passing written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no
conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with
such conflict issues.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the
human resources and remuneration committee and the
nomination committee, have all adopted the applicable
practices and procedures used in Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general
meetings of the Company are the primary forum for
communication with its shareholders and for shareholders’
participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at
meetings on their behalves if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Company held its
annual general meeting on 13 December 2016. Details of
major items discussed in that general meeting are set out in
the circular of the Company dated 31 October 2016.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the
Group provides a comprehensive and formal induction to
each newly appointed Director upon his/her appointment.
Briefings and orientations are provided so as to ensure that
new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties as a Director as well as the business
and governance practices of the Group. Such programmes
are tailor made for each Director taking into account their
background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable
training to all Directors for their continuous professional
development. During the year ended 30 June 2017 and up
to the date of this report, all Directors engaged in business
activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills so as to ensure that their contributions to the Board
remain informed and relevant. Mr. Liu Ka Lim and Ms.
Miranda Ho Mo Han participated in continuous professional
development programs required by The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Directors also
participated in other trainings and professional developments
such as attending or holding seminars, giving speeches
or studying reading materials relating to the Group or its
industries and businesses; rules and regulations; business
management; or the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

(continued)

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and
thereafter on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the
number and nature of offices held by such Director in
public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was
established with specific written terms of reference which
was revised and adopted on 19 March 2012. As at 30 June
2017, the human resources and remuneration committee
consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Ms. Miranda Ho Mo Han (chairman), Mr. Yang
Rusheng and Mr. Clayton Ip.

The human resources and remuneration committee
is responsible for, among other things, making
recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and
senior management of the Group, share option scheme,
bonus structure, provident fund and other compensation-
related issues. This committee consults with the chairman
and/or chief executive officer on its proposals and
recommendations and has access to professional advice,
if necessary. The human resources and remuneration
committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources
and remuneration committee is posted on the Company's
website. The human resources and remuneration committee
meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the human resources and
remuneration committee held three meetings to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific
written terms of reference which was revised and adopted
on 23 September 2014. As at 30 June 2017, the nomination
committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Miranda Ho Mo Han (chairman),
Mr. Yang Rusheng and Mr. Clayton Ip.

The main duties of the nomination committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board
annually, making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board, selecting individuals
nominated for directorships, assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer. The nomination committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee
is posted on the Company’'s website. The nomination
committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee
held three meetings to review the composition of the Board
and assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific
written terms of reference which was revised and adopted
on 1 January 2016. The main duties of the audit committee
include, among other things, the following:

(a) to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
Company's staff responsible for the accounting and
financial reporting function or external auditor before
submission to the Board.

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge and perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its
specific terms of reference which is posted on the
Company’s website. The audit committee shall meet at least
twice a year.

As at 30 June 2017, the audit committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Miranda
Ho Mo Han (chairman), Mr. Yang Rusheng and Mr. Clayton
Ip. No member of the audit committee is a former partner
of the existing audit firm of the Company within one year on
the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial
interest in the auditing firm. The audit committee has
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the
Company.

During the year under review, the audit committee held three
meetings to review, among other things, the Company's
interim report for the six months ended 31 December 20186,
annual report for the year ended 30 June 2016 and change
in auditor and change in auditor. The audit committee
has also reviewed the financial reporting and compliance
procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and
risk management review and processes as well as the re-
appointment of the external auditor. There is no material
uncertainty relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern. There is no disagreement between the
Board and the audit committee regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by Moore Stephens
CPA Limited, whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The audit committee
has recommended to the Board that Moore Stephens CPA
Limited be nominated for appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit
committee meetings. In line with practices consistent
with Board meetings and other committee meetings, draft
and final version of audit committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all members of the audit committee for
comments, approval and record as soon as practicable after
each meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversified perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the
selected candidates and their contribution to the Board. The
Board considered the measurable objectives, including but
not limited to skills, knowledge, professional experience and
cultural and educational background, and agreed that these
measurable objectives were achieved for the diversity of the
Board which contributed to the corporate strategy and the
business development of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the fee for the Company's
external auditor for audit services was about HK$2,531,000
(2016: HK$2,587,000) and that for non-audit services mainly
relating to taxation matters was about HK$132,000 (2016:
HK$447,000 mainly relating to taxation matters).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “"Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all
Directors, who have confirmed that, during the year ended
30 June 2017, each of them has complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group. The auditor is responsible to form an
independent opinion on the audited financial statements and
report the same to the shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions including but not limited to developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the
overall strategic development of the Group’s business. All
Directors have formal letters of appointment setting out
key terms and conditions of their appointment. Due to the
diversity and volume of the Group's business, responsibility
in relation to the daily operations and execution of the
strategic business plans are delegated to the management
of the Group.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human
resources and remuneration committee and the nomination
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the
authorities and responsibilities of the respective committee.
All committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek
the Board's approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations
by the Board to different committees to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to
the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’” AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and
officers’ liability to provide adequate cover, as determined
by the Board, in respect of the Board members and senior
management of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level
of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders. The
commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be
reflected in various aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the
annual and special general meeting provides an opportunity
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The chairman and the executive Directors attended the
annual general meeting in 2016 (the “2016 Annual General
Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’ views were
communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was
proposed by the chairman in respect of each separate issue
at the annual general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Company conforms
to the best corporate governance practices. The circular in
relation to the arrangement of annual general meeting will
be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty one clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in
which it sets out the details of each resolution proposed
and other relevant information. At the 2016 Annual General
Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes
were properly counted. The rights of shareholders and the
procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions at general
meeting are contained in the Articles of Association. An
explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll
is provided to the shareholders at the commencement of
the meeting. The chairman would respond to queries raised
by the shareholders regarding the voting procedures. The
poll results are published in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, two or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists
themselves may do so in the same manner.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders
through its annual and interim reports. The Directors,
company secretary or other appropriate members of senior
management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of company secretary at
Rooms 2508, 25th Floor, China Resources Building, No. 26
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to shareholders and
investors. The Company updates shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through
its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements
and circulars. The Company’'s website (www.tricor.com.hk/
webservice/01059) provides a communication platform to
the public and the shareholders.

During the year under review, there had been no significant
change made to the Company’s constitutional documents.

The Articles of Association is available on both the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management functions and internal control systems of the
Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these
systems has been conducted annually. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring
such systems, while the Board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk
management and internal control code provisions of the
CG Code by establishing and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control system. Such review covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems are described in the sections below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Risk Management Framework

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk
review process to enable comprehensive identification and
prioritization of all material risks throughout the Group,
escalation of material risks at the right managerial level,
effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper
oversight of risk mitigation efforts.
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“"Top-down”
Overseeing,
identification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
corporate level
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"Bottom-up”
Identification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk
at business unit level
and across
functional areas
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The Board E£&
Has overall responsibility for the Group's risk management
systems and internal control systems;
BEEBEASERRERHERASEZEGE
Sets strategic objectives;
HIERBEBIZ
Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and
internal control systems;
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Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure for our major
risks; and
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Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.
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Management EEE
Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and
internal control systems; and
HIE - BieREZARERRATEZHE 0 R
Assesses our risk and mitigating measures Company-wide.
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Audit Committee B ZEE
Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and
operating effectiveness of the underlying risk management and
internal control systems
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Operational Level &EEMH
Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across
the business; and
BERHER - T E IR EER - R
Risk management process and internal controls practiced across
business operations and functional areas.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Risk Management Framework (continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is
embedded in our strategy development, business planning
and day-to-day operations. The Group adopts a control and
risk self-assessment methodology and continuously assess
and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks that
are relevant to the Group's business are identified, assessed
and ranked according to their likelihood and consequence
on the Group. Risk owners are required to submit risk
alerts with risk response promptly to the Board and Audit
Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action
plans were formulated and implemented during the year to
address the areas of concern effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which
is based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") framework
for internal controls and has five components, namely
Control Environment; Risk Assessment; Control Activities;
Information and Communication; and Monitoring. In
developing our internal control system, we have taken into
consideration our organizational structure and the nature of
our business activities.

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and
progressed to future enhance our internal controls and
risk management system. The initial phase of the plan
focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-
based) approach to risk identification and assessment. This
approach enriches our ability to analyze risks and respond
to opportunities as we pursue our strategic objectives.
Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports
on selected risk topics.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement (continued)

In the current place, we aim to further integrate internal
controls and risk management into our business processes,
including in annual budgeting and planning. Instead of
treating the COSO framework as a framework-update
exercise, a holistic approach has been adopted by us,
taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management
improvement plan as well as other strategic initiatives. (e.g.
corporate social responsibility strategy and reporting). All
of these enhance our ultimate objective to make our risk
management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day-
to-day basis by operating units.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the
Group also adopts and implements an inside information
policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

. The access of information is restricted to a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis.
Employees who are in possession of inside information
are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve
confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the
Group enters into significant negotiations.

o The Executive Directors are the designated persons
who speak on behalf of the Company when
communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts or investors.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant
to take the primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“1A")
function, and professional staff with relevant expertise of
the Group are designated to provide assistance in the |A
function. The IA function is independent of the Group's daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management
and internal control systems by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According
to the established plan, review of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually and
the results are reported to the Board via Audit Committee
afterwards.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the Board, through its
review and the reviews made by IA function and Audit
Committee, considered that the risk management and
internal control system were effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, and risk management
functions of the Group has been identified. During
the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
and their training and budget were adequate. Such systems,
however, are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
is significant in strengthening investor confidence and
attracting investment. The management will devote
considerable effort to strengthening and improving the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any
views and suggestions from the shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS ESG REPORT

This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the "ESG Report”) of the Group to disclose
relevant information which may cause material impact to the
environment, social and governance for the year ended 30
June 2017 (the "Reporting Period”). Corporate governance
is addressed separately in this annual report. The Company
is listed on the Stock Exchange and is a subsidiary of
Champion, a global technology group whose shares are also
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SCOPE OF THE ESG REPORT

The Group is engaged in three business segments,
namely, systems sales and licensing, leasing of systems
products and sales of cultural products. Having considered
stakeholders’ major concerns and based on materiality,
unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report covers the
sustainability approaches, initiatives and performances of our
core businesses of (i) systems sales and licensing; and (ii)
leasing of systems products, which are operated through our
wholly-owned subsidiary — Multitone. This ESG Report does
not include the disclosure of key performance indicators.

REPORTING STANDARDS

The content of this ESG Report is prepared in compliance
with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

We welcome your valuable comments and suggestions
in relation to this ESG Report and our sustainability
performance. Your feedback on the ESG Report and our
sustainability performance can be mailed to Room 2508,
25th Floor, China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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RE HEKRERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group operates our core businesses of systems sales
and licensing as well as leasing of systems products
through our wholly-owned subsidiary — Multitone
headquartered in Basingstoke, the United Kingdom with
offices and distributors all over the world. Gaining a good
reputation in Europe over its 86 years history, Multitone
is a leading provider of messaging-system solutions to
healthcare, aged care, local government and retail markets.
It designs, manufactures, installs, and services a wide
range of equipment to meet the need for fast access and
communication to mobile individuals and to interconnect
between locations, so as to improve the efficiency of
communications and accommodate emergencies when
contact with individuals is vital.

OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY
DEVELOPMENT

As a good corporate citizen, we are committed to
creating sustained value for stakeholders by incorporating
environmental, social and governance considerations into
our operation with an aim to be a positive force to our
environment and the wider community. The Group upholds
that sustainable development not only encapsulates our
environmental performance but is also rooted in our
core business practices and our relationship with our
shareholders, employees, users and suppliers. Details of our
management approach in environmental and social aspects
can be found in the different sections of this ESG Report.

LISTENING TO OUR STAKEHOLDERS

We believe that understanding the views of our stakeholders
lays a solid foundation to the long-term growth and success
of the Group. We develop multiple channels to a broad
spectrum of stakeholders in order to provide them with
the opportunity to express their views on our sustainability
performance and future strategies. To reinforce mutual
trust and respect, we are committed to maintaining
enduring communication channels, both formally and
informally, with stakeholders to enable us to better shape
our business strategies in order to respond to their needs
and expectations, anticipate risks and strengthen key
relationships. We have identified employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners, shareholders, government
and the community at large as our key stakeholder groups.
The information collected through different communication
processes serves as an underlying basis for the structure of
this ESG Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OUR SUSTAINABLE OPERATION

Adhering to our sustainable development strategy in support
of environmental friendliness, we take positive measures to
protect the environment. We would take into consideration
the environmental aspects and benefits when planning our
activities.

We are committed to complying with all applicable
environmental rules and regulations, for example, Waste
Electronic and Electrical Equipment (“WEEE") Directive,
The Restriction of the Use of Certain Hazardous Substances
(“RoHS") in Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive
and Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction
of Chemicals (“REACh") of European Union”. We are not
aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste for the Reporting Period.

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS
a) Greenhouse gas emission

Our greenhouse gas emissions are mainly generated
from the use of purchased electricity, diesel and petrol.
The electricity purchased is mainly for manufacturing
operations including lighting, plant and equipment
and other miscellaneous items. The diesel and petrol
purchased is mainly for the motor vehicles.

We committed to managing and continuously
improving its environmental performance and
efficiency. We implemented the following key
measures so as to promote low carbon, energy saving
and emission reduction.

° Use low-emission vehicles

° Recycling of printed circuit board assemblies and
batteries as part of the decommissioning and
repairing process

° Compliance with the WEEE Directive of European
Commission

o Encouraging e-communication channels for
business, for example, get use of video
conferencing for meeting so as to reduce air
transportation
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (continued)

b)

Waste Management
Hazardous waste

For unserviceable components containing hazardous
material, it would be segregated from all other non-
toxic waste. Components must not be handled in
a way that may lead to breakage or other physical
damage. Any contaminated area should be treated
in accordance with the relevant Material Safety Data

Sheet ("MSDS") as required by European Directive.

All materials that contain hazardous substances
would be disposed in accordance with the disposal
considerations as stated in the MSDS as required by
European Directive.

Non-hazardous waste

The main non-hazardous waste generated from the
operation includes electrical wiring and components,
metal scraps, glass and scrap wood..etc.

Our non-hazardous waste would be separated as
general non-recyclable and recyclable waste such as
paper, packaging and cardboard. In order to comply
with WEEE regulations, the scrap printed circuit boards
and production waste was separated and disposed
of via European Recycling Platform (“ERP") WEEE
agreement. ERP is the only pan-European organization
offering producer compliance for WEEE, batteries and
packaging.

We upholds the principles of waste management and
committed to the proper handling and disposal of all
wastes from business activities. We also strives to
reduce, reuse and recycle throughout the operations to
minimize the disposal of waste to the landfill, such as:

° Recycling and resumption of packaging,
cardboard and paper;

° Separation of waste for recycling; and

° Recycling of printed circuit board assemblies and

batteries as part of the decommissioning and
repair process.
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ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES/
A3: ENVIRONMENT AND NATURE
RESOURCES

a)

b)

Energy

We have adopted various policies and guidelines
to continually improve our energy efficiency and
management. We aim to adopt best practices for
energy conservation and support our business
units with the implementation of effective energy
conservation strategies.

Most of the purchased electricity was used in
manufacturing, testing and repairing process, we have
adopted the following measure so as to reduce the
use of energy:

° Replaced traditional lightbulbs with energy saving
ones such as LED

° Using modern energy efficient equipment (where
possible)
o Maintain the air-conditioning temperature at

appropriate level

Water Use Management

Water management is not a material area for us. Much
of our water consumption is for toilet flushing, water
tap, drinking water basic cleaning and sanitation, as
well as certain catering facilities in our buildings.

We will continue to look for opportunities to reduce
further emissions and wastes on an ongoing basis in
order to minimize the Group's impacts of activities on
the environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT

a)

b)

Our People

We believe that human capital is the key to leading
our successes. We are committed to offering the
comfortable working environment, competitive
employee compensation, attractive welfare and
pleasant work atmosphere.

We are subject to various rules and regulations, for
example, Employments Rights Act 1996 of United
Kingdom, Malaysian Employment Act 1955 of
Malaysia and Federal legislation of Germany. We are
not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare for the
Reporting Period.

As an equal opportunity employer, we are fully
committed to a policy of treating all of its employees
and job applicants equally. We take all reasonable
steps to employ, train and promote employees on the
basis of their experience, abilities and qualifications
without regards to race, colour, ethnic origin,
nationality, national origin, religion or belief, sex,
sexual orientation, gender reassignment, age, marital
or civil partnership status or disability. All terms of
employment, benefits, facilities and service would be
reviewed from time to time, in order to ensure that
there is no unlawful discrimination.

Employee Benefit

The recruitment process would be conducted in such
a way as to result in the selection of the most suitable
person for the job in terms of relevant experience,
abilities and qualifications. We commit to applying the
equal opportunities policy statement at all stages of
recruitment and selection.
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ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT (continued)

b)

Employee Benefit (continued)

The remuneration of the employees of the Group
is determined with reference to market terms and
the performance, qualifications and experience of
the individual employee. The emoluments of the
directors of the Company are recommended by the
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee of
the Company after considering factors such as the
Company’s operating results, individual performance,
salaries paid by comparable companies, and time
commitment and responsibilities of the position. Our
directors and employees receive compensation in the
form of monthly salaries, performance-linked bonuses,
retirement benefits schemes and other benefits such
as medical scheme. We have also adopted a share
option scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible
employees.

To ensure our salary structure is fair and competitive,
we review the remuneration and appraise employee
performance on annual basis. We also offer an all-
encompassing package of benefits and insurance
to uphold adequate living standards for employees,
including reasonable working hours and rest periods
with annual leave, marriage leave, maternity leave,
compassionate leave, paternity leave and medical
coverage in accordance with local regulations. In
addition, we also arrange different kinds of staff
activities, including festival parties, birthday and festive
celebrations for employees so as to facilitate work-life
balance.

Whenever an employee resigns or gets laid off,
designated human resource personnel should perform
exit-interview to find out the underlying reasons of
departure or dismissal, and to ensure full compliance
with the relevant employee laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

We are devoted to ensuring, so far as reasonably practicable,
the health, safety and welfare of all its employees. We are
also committed to complying with all applicable rules and
regulations, for example, the Health and Safety at Work Act
of United Kingdom, Joint German Health and Safety Strategy
of Germany, Occupational Safety and Health Act of Malaysia
and USA. We take all possible steps to protect the health
and safety of all employees, including but not limited to the
following key measures:

o Policy for health and safety has been established so as
to detail our standard and requirement for maintenance
of safe working conditions.

o Site Safety Committee was in place and responsible
for monitoring and supervising the Health and Safety
Programme.

° Site Safety Committee would review accident
investigation reports and satisfy themselves that
the correct conclusions have been reached and that
corrective action has been taken.

o Regular inspections would be carried out for the whole
site to ensure that the health and safety policy is being
followed.

o Necessary protective equipment, such as safety boots,

safety glasses and other personal safety equipment
has been provided.

o A risk assessment of the manual handling operations
has been undertaken and training for lifting and
carrying would be given for individuals potentially
involved with manual handling activities.

o Before any new plant, process, hazardous substances,
layout of a productive or office area is introduced, it
is to be fully investigated by the Site Safety Officer to
ensure that any hazards are adequately guarded against
and that Multitone is compliant to its responsibility
to outside authorities. Specialist advice should be
obtained when necessary.

o First aid facilities has been provided and suitably
equipped together with a first aid handbook.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY (continued)

Apart from the above measures, given that modern
electronic components may contain typical toxic substances,
such as beryllium compound, mercury, lithium and cadmium,
the following additional measures have been implemented:

° Managers and team leaders must ensure that all
employees in their departments or sections are
competent, adequately trained and fully aware of any
hazards in his/her department.

o All components or assemblies containing a hazardous
substance should have the relevant details listed on
either the component specification.

° Every hazardous substance must have a MSDS
containing the information of hazards identification,
first aid, handling and storage precaution etc.

° Materials that are hazardous to health or flammable
must be stored correctly.

° Provide specific conditions, such as isolation or as
large a distance of separation from the main work
place as possible.

o Reduce risk of damage to glass containers, for
example store at ground level and not on shelves

° Keep in a suitable metal cupboard if flammable.

° When dealing with large quantities of flammable or
hazardous liquids, no more than 5 litres should be
stored in the work area.

With the above measures, we have no work-related fatal or
work-related injury for the Reporting Period.

We are not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards for the Reporting Period.

ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We believed that our success is dependent upon a
motivated and well-trained workforce. We recognize that
employees are our greatest asset, therefore, it is crucial
to assist in their training and development to achieve our
missions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

(continued)

Apart from induction training for new staff, both on-job and
off-job training was available. Sponsorship would be provided
for our employee to attend relevant external course.
During the Reporting Period, our staff has participated in
different type of training such as health and safety, system
engineering, finance and marketing.

In addition to financial support, study leave and exam leave
would also been granted so as to ensure our staff could
devote sufficient time in preparing public examinations.

ASPECT B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

We strictly emphasize on prohibition of engaging child labour
and forced labour. “Child"” is defined as a person who is
younger than the local legal age for completing compulsory
education. Human Resources Department is responsible
to verify the age of our employees and maintain copies of
their age proof document. We are committed to complying
with all applicable laws, regulations and the International
Labour Organisation standards regarding working hours and
conditions for all employees.

We are not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to preventing child and forced labour
for the Reporting Period.

ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Our suppliers located in different counties, such as Malaysia,
Poland, Europe and Denmark. We purchased electronic
printed circuit boards, components and equipment from the
suppliers.

We recognise our corporate and social responsibilities reside
as much in our supply chain as in our own activities. We
continually seek to ensure that the products and services
we source are ethically produced.

Our Ethical Sourcing Policy has set out social and
environmental performance requirements for our suppliers
of goods and services. Ethical Sourcing Policy is based
on the Electronics Industry Code of Conduct which
establishes standards to ensure that working conditions in
the electronics industry supply chain are safe, that workers
are treated with respect and dignity and that business
operations are environmentally responsible.
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ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Every supplier who works with us have agreed with
those terms and conditions as mentioned in our Ethical
Sourcing Policy. We stipulate a range of ethical, labour and
environmental standards that we expect to be followed
across our supply chain including areas such as child
labour, health and safety, working hours, discrimination
and disciplinary processes. We would generally not
engaged suppliers as our preferred supplier unless the
Ethical Sourcing Policy can be complied with and Multitone
considers performance is acceptable or genuine attempts
are being made to address violations of the Ethical Sourcing
Policy.

ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
a) Our Products and Services

We are committed to providing the best quality
products and services to our customer. We maintained
a quality management system in support of the design,
manufacture, post delivery activities and repair of ex-
certified product in accordance with BS-EN-ISO/ IEC
80079-34. In order to ensure our product could meet
the requirements of our customers, Integrated Quality
Assurance (“IQA") has been incorporated, so that the
personnel involved with the day to day production
of a product have the authority and control and
responsibility to maintain the required standards.

The establishment of an efficient quality management
system has become an indispensable element to
sustain our competitiveness. We have introduced
and maintained the ISO 9001 quality management
standard for its operation. Through adopting a
Quality Management System Manual ("QMS"), the
Group ensures that the quality of its products and
services are up to standard and can meet customer'’s
requirements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

(continued)

a)

b)

Our Products and Services (continued)

Practically, the methods employed to ensure the
quality of product and service provision is through
review and understanding of customer, regulatory and
statutory requirements and adherence to procedures.
We implemented the following key measures so as to
ensure the quality of our product:

° QMS has been established and the management
team shall ensure that all requirements and
processes of the QMS are adhered to by their
departments.

o All new parts are subject to inspection.

° If a batch being supplied without a Certificate
of Conformity, the batch must either be
rejected back to the supplier or bonded until the
Certificate of Conformity is supplied.

o Quality Assurance Manager is responsible for
ensuring that the process is audited so that
product subject to the European Directive is in
accordance with the details and requirements of
the Declarations of Conformity.

° Systems Operations Manager is responsible
for ensuring that all products manufactured by
Multitone are in accordance with the details and
requirements of the Declarations of Conformity.

° Internal audits would be carried out by Group
Quality Assurance Manager in accordance with
our internal audit policy.

° We conduct a vendor assessment of our
suppliers and where they have no formal,
certified, QMS e.g. ISO 9001, we either issue
them with a questionnaire or where required
conduct an assessment visit.

Product Safety

European directives have now included a more specific
requirement to conduct a product risk analysis for
essential safety requirements ("ESR"”). We have
conducted risk assessment so as to identify applicable
clauses from technical and safety standards applicable
to the ESR's to remove or reduce the risk and apply
suitable measures.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

(continued)

b)

c)

Product Safety (continued)

We have also implemented the following procedures
so as to ensue product safety:

o For our product, we have implemented QMS
to ensure that the design, modification and
manufacture and, if necessary, product recall,
of our ex-certified product satisfies the QMS
of EN80079-34 and ATEX directive, that is, the
name commonly given to the two European
Directives for controlling explosive atmospheres.

o For safety critical parts used in Line Terminating
Equipment, Certificate of Conformity stating
that the equipment has been 100% tested in
accordance with its specification is required.

o Certificates of Conformity stating that the
manufacturer carried out safety tests detailed in
our purchasing specification, must be received
with all designated safety critical components or
sub assemblies. If such Certificates of Conformity
is not received, separate inspection would be
carried out prior to acceptance.

o All products are to be tested in accordance with
formal test procedures.

Marking and Labelling

We are committed to complying with relevant
European directive and other relevant rules and
regulations relating to the product labeling, for
example, the WEEE directive.

During our development process, a designated staff
will detail the look and content of external/internal
labelling and identification. Our manufacturing
specifications will detail to operators where and how
the labelling is to be applied.

Products are to bear labelling that provides unique
serial number for identification. Prior to packing all
equipment will have the appropriate identification
labelling attached. No final marking or labelling
operations are to take place until all stages of the
production process are complete and compliance with
the requirements of the product has been tested,
demonstrated or inspected. Conformité Européene
(“CE") mark will be applied to all conforming products
before shipment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

(continued)

c)

Marking and Labelling (continued)

We are not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress for the Reporting Period.

Data Privacy

As Multitone is registered under the data protection
laws in the United Kingdom, we are aware of the
confidentiality of the personal information and takes all
reasonable care to prevent any unauthorized access to
customer information. We are committed to protecting
privacy and confidentiality of personal data of our
employees, customers and business partners and
other identifiable individuals.

We have maintained privacy policy to protect the
privacy not only for our customers but for our website
and mobile application users. Multitone's mobile
applications receives or collects information when
we operate and provide our services, such as name,
position, department, etc.

The privacy policy has clearly stated the data we
collect; the way we use the data; and the method we
use to protect the data. We collect and use personal
information in a responsible and non-discriminatory
manner by restricting the use of collected information
to the purposes consistent with those identified in our
contracts with such identifiable individuals.

We did not receive any complaints concerning
breaches of client privacy and losses of client data for
the Reporting Period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

Given that honesty and openness is one of our core value,
we commit to act at the highest level of professional
conduct and to comply with Money Laundering Regulations
2007 of United Kingdom or all other applicable rules
and regulations. We are not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering for the Reporting
Period.

As one of the anti-money laundering measures, credit check
would be carried out on any new customer, which includes
obtaining its historic financial performance data. We would
also obtain its VAT registration number so as to ensure
that it complies with all tax legislation in the countries that
it operates in and does not enter into any agreement with
customers, suppliers, partners, dealerships or any other
organisation that requires bribes, solicitation or extortion.
In addition, evidence of ultimate company ownership and
shareholders of the new customer have been submitted to
our bankers and to the independent auditors. We have also
made the United State required declarations as required by
money laundering legislation.

We have implemented a whistleblowing policy so as to
enable our staff to raise concerns and to report information
which the staff believes shows malpractice or impropriety.

We will treat all complaint of malpractice in a confidential
and sensitive manner. The identity of the individual making
the allegation may be kept confidential so long as it does
not hinder or frustrate any investigation. The allegations
would be fully investigated by designated investigating
officer. The investigation report would be submitted to Chief
Executive Officer or Non-Executive Director as appropriate.
We have no hesitation to adopt disciplinary actions upon any
proven misconduct case.

During the Reporting Period, no legal cases concerned
with corrupt practices were brought against the Group or
directors or employees.

ASPECT B8: OUR COMMUNITY
INVESTMENT

Our management strives to encourage employees to
improve the society through community involvement. Both
management and employees of the Company have been
eager to take their own initiatives in helping and supporting
the local communities and neighbors.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Kantone Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) set out on pages 76 to 167, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
801-806 Silvercord, Tower 1,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

T +852 2375 3180
F +852 2375 3828

15 50 S 4
WO A

www.moorestephens.com.hk
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Limitation of scope - impairment of
inventories resulting from downgradings and
reclassifications of cultural products

Included in the Group’s inventories as at 30 June
2017 were cultural products whose cost amounted to
HK$3,379,083,000. These cultural products were purchases
made by the Group in the second half of the preceding
financial year by the former management of the Group in
the ordinary course of business for its principal activity of
trading of cultural products. Consistent to the impairment
review performed as at the end of the preceding financial
year, cultural product and jewellery experts (the “Current
Experts”) were engaged by the management of the
Group to perform an inspection, on a test basis, on the
inventories of the cultural products. As a result of the
inspection, the Current Experts advised the management
of the Group that downgradings and reclassifications were
required to be made on a number of the inventory items
of cultural products. The findings of the Current Experts
were inconsistent with the results of the grading and
classification review carried out by the former management
of the Group on the cultural products as at 30 June 2016
which had been confirmed by another team of cultural
product and jewellery experts (the “Former Experts”) who
had performed an onsite inspection, on a test basis, on the
inventories of cultural products as at 30 June 2016. As a
result of the inconsistencies in the grading and classification
of cultural products as at 30 June 2017 and 2016, the
current management of the Group resolved to arrange
another team of cultural product and jewellery experts to
conduct a full inspection of the cultural products regarding
their grading and classification as soon as practical (the “Full
Inspection”). As at the date of this report, the management
of the Group is still in the process of identifying and
arranging suitable team of experts to conduct the Full
Inspection. For the purpose of preparing the current year's
consolidated financial statements, the management of the
Group had reassessed the current market values of the
inventories as at 30 June 2017 based on the findings of the
Current Experts concerning the grading and classification
of the cultural products. As a result of the assessment,
the management of the Group had determined that the
net realisable values of a number of the inventory items
of cultural products were lower than their costs and
that the shortfalls amounted to an aggregate amount of
HK$1,740,108,000. Accordingly, the Group recognised an
impairment loss of HK$1,740,108,000 for the year ended 30
June 2017.

a KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (continued)

Limitation of scope - impairment of
inventories resulting from downgradings and
reclassifications of cultural products (continued)

Because of the inconsistencies in the written findings of
the Former Experts and the Current Experts concerning
the grading and classification of cultural products and
the unavailability of sufficient appropriate audit evidence
available to us as at the date of this report to ascertain
the assessment of the net realisable values of the cultural
products made by the current management of the Group,
we were unable to satisfy ourselves that the impairment
loss of HK$1,740,108,000 recognised as an expense during
the year ended 30 June 2017 and carrying amount of the
cultural products of HK$1,638,975,000 as at 30 June 2017
were free from material misstatements. Any adjustments
that might have been found to be necessary in respect of
the above would have a significant effect on the Group's
financial position as at 30 June 2017 and the Group's
financial performance for the year then ended, and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

As a result of these matters, we were unable to determine
whether any adjustments might have been found necessary
in respect of inventories, and the other elements making
up the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows.

FrBERER2ER @

HERS — AXtERBUTARE
HoBEHEFEERE®R)

HRAEZRERBEERBEIULER Z AL RS
ZEMBERT R ML RARESAHTELH
BENEZRBERETERETE E%lfﬁﬂéﬁﬁ
XftfzuuﬁﬁaﬂaZ‘Im"iﬁﬂa@ L BEEREEE
MRBE-_ZT—tH~A= +E|¢¢Fﬁ€ Y153
2»@2@1@5}51,740,108,000/%75&$<1t§m5€:§
—+&XA=+AZKME{E1,638,975,000 8 T~
SEARERBRAAD o WA Eat S BIEL EAHE
B ofeglt BEEER-ZT—tFNA=Z+HZH
Bk BEEHEEZALEFEZMBERE AU
ERGEMBRECHEBEZRENBEARE

MRRSEEME  BEREREREARES
ARBR SRR R TRER - 8RR
REDEREARSRDEZ AR L TR
b



BV % B AR E

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

@ KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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:
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to
issue an auditor’'s report in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

However, because of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Sai Kit
Practising Certificate Number: P05544

Hong Kong, 29 September 2017
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REBnRkEM2EBE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_Z—tH/XxA=1HI1%E FORTHEYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
2017 2016
—E—t5F —E—REF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 FET FHET
Revenue g 6 140,854 2,090,426
Cost of sales $HE K AR (67,836) (1,374,356)
Gross profit EREEE 73,018 716,070
Other income, gains and losses EmA - s REE 7 3,887 4,076
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z U 11 2,167 11,773
Distribution costs Pal =D (26,429) (29,731)
General and administrative — B RITEE
expenses (50,825) (84,043)
Impairment losses recognised for ~ FTFEFTRER ZREEE
inventories 17 (1,740,108) —
Impairment losses recognised for Bt R4 & 48 4% 57 8 ok AN AT E R
development costs for systems ZREEE
and networks 16 (14,650) (633,604)
Research and development costs gE KK A
expensed (3,089) (1,940)
Finance costs BF Ak AN 8 (146) (350)
Loss before taxation MRELATES R 9 (1,756,175) (17,749)
Income tax expense FReBisz 12 (405) =
Loss for the year = *%FE®R (1,756,580) {17,749)
Other comprehensive income: Hith 2 mH K ¢
Item that will not be reclassified BresoEERn2ER
to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of defined BHE TR RN S
benefits pension plans (208) 5,655
ltem that may be reclassified #ABIDEEm 2 EE
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising ERINEFSREFTEA 2
on translation of foreign P& = RE
operations 188 5,299
Exchange difference A E— B AT
reclassified to profit or loss o EEm o ER =5
on disposal of a subsidiary — (783)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ AEEHMZE(XH), kEF
income for the year (20 10171
Total comprehensive expense AEERXEXHAE
for the year (1,756,600) (7,578)

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-_T—tHA=THIFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—NRF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FAET
Loss for the year attributable to: E{GAFERIE :
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZZ =N (1,756,580) (11,764)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR AR SR AE 25 - (5,985)
(1,756,580) (17,749)
Total comprehensive expense for E{GAFERE HAHE :
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEF =N (1,756,600) (996)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR AR SR AE 2 — (6,582)
(1,756,600) (7,578)
Loss per share BREE
— Basic and diluted — EARKEE 14 HK(178.05) cents &l HK(1.19) cents il
The notes on pages 84 to 167 form part of these EBL4ERF167TEME 2T AUFLREVBERE
consolidated financial statements. ZHRERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

R=ZF—+t %X A=+ H AT 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
—ZET—tHF —E-RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB M ERE 15 31,366 33,406
Development costs for systems R R AR KA
and networks 16 - 21,694
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 81,366 55,100
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 1,658,321 3,397,308
Trade and other receivables FEY B 5 B B BR R 18 35,928 34,282
Deposits, bank balances and cash  1F#& * IR{7&B MRS 19 76,101 74,377
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 1,770,350 3,505,967
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables e 5 REMARK 20 56,083 61,040
Warranty provision RERE 21 1,073 1,055
Amount due to a director FEN—BESZHIA 22 3,000 —
Bank borrowings — amount due RITEE — R—FAEH
within one year 23 3,636 3,677
63,792 65,772
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,706,558 3,440,195
Total assets less current liabilities RERERABEE 1.737,924 3,495,295
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Bank borrowings — amount due RITIER — R—F1&EIH
after one year 23 - 3,677
Retirement benefit obligations AR RTE B A 24(b) 60,727 57,821
60,727 61,498
Net assets HEFE 1,677,197 3,433,797
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e MR R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

R=—Z—+ %X 8=+ H AT 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FHET
Capital and reserves BARFE
Share capital f& s 26(b) 986,538 986,538
Reserves B 690,659 2,447,259
1,677,197 3,433,797
The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 167 EICEZF167TEMAZRAMBBREER =
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of —+FNA-ThBEESTeRERFETZ - I
directors on 29 September 2017 and are signed on its behalf BT EERERE
by:
LIU KA LIM TO YIN FONG CECILICA
BER i)
Director Director
EF EFE
The notes on pages 84 to 167 form part of these F8ABEEE 167 Bz Al HiEAMBERE
consolidated financial statements. ZHKER S ©



mERAERZER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-_T—+tHFXA=THIFE FORTHEYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAAHEEAER
Retained
profits/ Non-
Share Share Translation (accumulated Controlling Total
capital  premium reserve losses) Total Interests equity
REEN/ 2R RAER
Bx  ROOEE ERRE  (RAER) At RRER ]

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T T AT AT THET T

(note (note
261(c)(i)) 261(c)(ii)
(i (hiz
26(c))  26(c)fii)
At 1 July 2015 R-E-H&E+A-H 986,538 795,357 5,402 1,651,691 3,438,988 25,965 3,464,953
Loss for the year FEEEE — — — (11,764) (11,764) (5,985) (17,749)
Remeasurement of BETERARMNGE
defined benefits
pension plans — — — 5,655 5,655 — 5,655
Exchange difference RENRBBEFEE
arising on translation of ERER
foreign operations — — 5,896 — 5,896 (597) 5,299
Exchange difference AHE—RHBARM
reclassified to profit or EFENEEREN
loss on disposal of a ER(WE17)
subsidiary (note 11) — — (783) — (783) — (783)
Total comprehensive FEEREXHAR
expense for the year — — 5113 6,109) (996) (6,582) (7,578)

Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHRBAR

(note 11) (Hit17) = = = = = (17,128) (17,128)

Acquisition of remaining  BAR—FEHBAEZFH
interest in a subsidiary i — — (2,495) (1,700) (4,195) (2,255) (6,450)
= = (2,495) (1,700) (4,195) (19,383) (23,578)
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mERAERSE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-_T—tHA=THIFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAREEAES
Retained
profits/ Non-
Share Share Translation (accumulated Controlling Total
capital premium reserve losses) Total Interests equity
RERR/ FER  RARH
kA& BROEE W EXRE (RHER) ait RREER b
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT FET FET AT AT
(note (note
26(c)fi)) 26(c/fii))
(Wit (Hist
26cli) - 261c)fii))
At 30 June 2016 and RZB-REXA=1AR
at 1 July 2016 —E-REtA-H 986,538 795,357* 8,020  1,643.882% 3,433,797 — 3433797
Loss for the year rEEER - — —  (1,756,580)  (1,756,580) —  (1,756,580)
Remeasurement of BETERTIRMNE
defined benefits
pension plans — — — (208) (208) — (208)
Exchange difference RENEHIBEFEE
arising on translation of ZEREH
foreign operations — — 188 — 188 — 188
Total comprehensive FEERANHES
expense for the year — — 188 (1,756,788) (1,756,600 —  (1,756,600)
At 30 June 2017 R=B-tEXA=tH 986,538  795,357* 8,208* (112,906)* (1,677,197) - (1,677,197
@ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves @ hERHEREFEKGEVBERARZEEHEN

of approximately HK$690,659,000 (2016: HK$2,447,259,000)
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 84 to 167 form part of these

consolidated financial statements.

690,659,000 7T (= Z — /N 4 : 2,447,259,000 7%

) @

FBAAEE 167 AMBZMERULFLREMBIME
ZHRKERS

EREEARAA



RERERB X

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHE-T—tHA=1HL%E FORTHEYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Kzt FExT FET
Cash flows from operating REEEIHER
activities
Loss before taxation KR 7 A& 18 (1,756,175) (17,749)
Adjustments for: HEE
Amortisation of development RERPEEBERARZ
costs for systems and networks i 9 7,044 492,515
Depreciation of property, plant W BERZEZ
and equipment e 9 8,608 10,836
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR 2 W 11 (2,167) (11,773)
Finance costs IR %N 8 146 350
Impairment losses recognised for S NG DN
development costs for systems FriER 2 R EE 18
and networks 16 14,650 633,604
Impairment losses recognised for MEEER 2R EEE
inventories 17 1,740,108 —
Interest income F 2 WA 7 (180) (3,373)
12,034 1,104,410
Increase in inventories FE.ZEMN (1,121) (3,376,729)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and FEWE 5 R E A BR R 2 (3 n) />
other receivables (2,135) 1,817,829
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FEHE 5 REAMBRR 2380, Ok )
other payables 871 (80,637)
(Decrease)/increase in warranty REBE 2 CRD), G0
provision (26) 26
Net cash generated from/(used BEERFRE () 2BeFHE
in) operating activities 9,623 (635,101)
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FERERB R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-_ZT—+tF,A=+HI%E FORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—REF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt FET FET
Cash flows from investing RETEH2HER
activities
Deposits and prepayment refunded AR RBAERERAR 2
in respect of development costs EiRERe RFBMKIEA
for systems and networks 16 - 432,510
Additions to property, plant and RNEWME - BB KB
equipment 15 (7,125) (10,012)
Interest received 2 HF 2 7 180 3,873
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from HEHBATIRSGRE),RA
disposal of subsidiaries TRE 11 (863) 1,657
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « WERBIERE
plant and equipment 2B 15 108 212
Net cash (used in)/generated BREFE (FifE) FiiEzBLFHE
from investing activities (7,700) 427,740
Cash flows from financing BMEEEH2HER
activities
Increase in amount due to a FE—RESRIBZIEM
director 3,000 —
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITEE (8,559) (6,079)
New borrowings raised MEEREER 5,000 =
Interest paid B FE (146) (350)
Net cash used in financing RETBMEZRESEE
activities (705) (6,429)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and B&RIRESZE 2120, Ol )
cash equivalents it 1,218 (113,790)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUReMReERE
beginning of the year 74,377 196,407
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExEg e
changes 506 (8,240)
Cash and cash equivalents atend F#RERREZEH
of the year 19 76,101 74,377

The notes on pages 84 to 167
consolidated financial statements.

form part of these

FBAAEFE 67 AR ZMERUFFEUBRE
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e RSN
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

GENERAL

Kantone Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”).
Its ultimate and immediate holding company is
Champion Technology Holdings Limited (“Champion”),
a company which was originally incorporated in
the Cayman Islands but subsequently re-domiciled
to Bermuda, and its shares are also listed on the
Main Board of the Exchange. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been
presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated. During the year, the Directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) have re-visited the
business plan and strategy of the Company and re-
assessed that since the business transactions, in
terms of operating, investing and financing activities,
of the Company itself were mainly denominated in HK$
during the year and expected to continue being in HK$
in the foreseeable future, the Directors determined
that the functional currency of the Company itself
has been changed from United States dollar to HK$
with effect from 1 July 2016 and that the Directors
considered HK$ is more appropriate. The change in
functional currency was accounted for prospectively
from the date of the change and did not have any
impact on the figures presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
34.
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REMBREMNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Kantone Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) has applied,
for the first time in the current year, the following new
and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"):

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16  Clarification of Acceptable
and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16  Agriculture: Bearer Plants
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28  the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting
for Acquisitions of Interests

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements Cycle —
2012-2014

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017
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GEMBREMNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EMFFIRLETEBMBERE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ZA([EHBPBEREER ) 2
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and ANEEWEIR T AT E BMAE M RER
revised standards, amendments and interpretation that LRI RENEET AR ~ (BRI AR ©

have been issued but are not yet effective.

Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or after
RT5 B 8E B RNAEE

BMZEEREHEER
HKAS 28 and HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined*
amendments an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BB EAE 28R RES REEREBENRNEECEZHNEELE FERH*
Mg ELERZE 10 KISETA PEE

HKAS 7 Amendments Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017

BREGFTERE 7THRIEFT AR BT E —E—+F—H—H

HKAS 12 Amendments Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 1 January 2017

Unrealised Losses

ARG ERIE 1257 BT A BRRELEEEL C ELHBEE —E—+tF—A—H

HKFRSs Amendments Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 1 January 2017

2014 - 2016 Cycle or 1 January 2018

(as appropriate)

BB RELINETTAR TR —FE T -NFEFBBBMERE LR —T—+tF—A—H3k

FEBE —T—-NF—HA—H

(fis A )

HKAS 40 Amendments Transfer of Investment Property 1 January 2018

BB G AERIE 40 RISFT A REWHE 2 B —ZT—)\F—H—H

HKFRS 2 Amendments Classification and Measurement of 1 January 2018
share-based Payment Transactions

BERMBERMELEAE 25BN UROHAEBNRR S 2D EREE —T-N\F—H—H

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

BB ELERIE 95 SRTA —Z—-\F—H—H

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

BREMERELERE 155 BF &KW= —ZE-N\F—H—H
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REMBREMNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. RMFITRELETEBUBRE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HA(FBHBHREEL D)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or after

RT3 BHME B UER

BMZEEREHEER
HKFRS 15 Amendments Clarification to HKFRS 15 Revenue Contracts 1 January 2018
with Customers
BERMBMELEZI5FIETA BEMBRELERNE IR ZEL,EHNKE 2 EF —T-N\F—H—H
HK (IFRIC) - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 1 January 2018
Interpretation 22 Consideration
BEXE(BEBRMBREREZES) INEXZHRBEHNRE —ZE-N§—H—H
— REFE2%
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
BRI RELRZE 165 HE —ZE—-NF—H—H
HK(IFRIC) — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019
Interpretation 23
ER(BABRMBRERELZES) MENEEEZ T HEN —T-hNE—H—H
— REE 235
* The amendments were originally intended to be * REBFTARARERN-_Z—XRE—A—HB
effective for annual periods beginning on or after S IBBAE EEHART A - A B BBEIE
1 January 2016. The effective date has now been TT MR AR S S AT o

deferred. Early application of the amendments continues
to be permitted.

i
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e RSN
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EMFFIRLETEBMBERE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ZA([EBMBHREER D @)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
The Group has already commenced an assessment AEBE RGBT EFEA LT REETE
of the related impact of adopting the above new BUMERELER ZHETE 25 BEFY)
and revised HKFRSs. So far, the Directors have FRAEEMF T REETE B RS XL
preliminarily concluded that the above new and revised R FERE AR B HIEER A - M FAI AT &
HKFRSs will be adopted at the respective effective SN BRIRMT AT e ARNEE 2 578 BT
dates and the adoption of them is unlikely to have MEBEREATE -

a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group except for the following:

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” ERANKBREEANFEIR @ T
=N

A final version of HKFRS 9 (that includes classification BREMBREERFE IFRRRA(BIEE R

and measurement of financial assets and financial BEREREBE I EHEANE  HER K

liabilities, impairment and general hedge accounting) HEEEIE)ER T —FEE M -

was issued in 2014.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below: ERYHEHRELENFEIFZEBRENT ¢

° All recognised financial assets that are within . EESTEAFE9F T A : 1
the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: REFE|HEANZFBEERERE
Recognition and measurement” are subsequently B ERZREEHEKARAFEER
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Debt EoREBEARFBEZEBIRE
investments that are held within a business EREWBMeaHRER REARS
model whose objective is to collect the REATNAERAEBEAESE ZF
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual B —REEZBSHHARKEDE
cash flows that are solely payments of principal HE A2 - FTEEMEBRRE LK
and interest on the principal outstanding are BREHNERBESTHERBRERD
generally measured at amortised cost at the FEERE -

end of subsequent accounting periods. All
other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair value at the end of
subsequent accounting periods.

. An expected loss model (rather than an incurred . BN IEHREERE IR EHMNTBEE
loss model) has been adopted by HKFRS 9. BERE(MIECELEEER) -

o The new general hedge accounting requirements o F—MEFeTEEZHMEERE =
retain the three types of hedge accounting. BN ST ERIE - R ZREAB
However, greater flexibility has been introduced BREHAESFTEEZRSERGIA
to the types of transactions eligible for hedge EEEEN LHEBERIEAEAHT
accounting, specifically broadening the types of AT RERIREEREHRSHE
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments B IEERIBEE P ERE DR o

and the types of risk components of non-financial
items that are eligible for hedge accounting.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (continued)

The new expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9
may result in early provision of credit loss in relation
to the Group's financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The Directors will assess the impact of the
applicable of HKFRS 9. For the moment, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of the application of HKFRS 9 until the Group
performs a detailed review.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes
a single comprehensive model for entities to use in
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
“Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction contracts” and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: ldentify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: ldentify the performance obligations in
the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation

REMBREMNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GEMBREMNE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when control of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

The Group is still in the process of assessing the
impact of HKFRS 15. The Directors believe that it is
not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group has completed the
assessment.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

For lessees, HKFRS 16 introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more
than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of
low value. A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the underlying
leased asset and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments. For lessors,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly,
a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating
leases or financial leases, and to account for those two
types of leases differently. The standard is mandatorily
effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019. Earlier application is permitted for
entities that apply HKFRS 15 at or before the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16.

Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
discloses the Group's commitments in respect of
operating leases, which provides an insight of the
amounts payable by Group under operating lease in
the future. The Directors are still in the progress of
assessing the impact of HKFRS16.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have a
material impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use
in HKAS 36.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

£

REMBREMNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those used by other
members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’'s equity therein.
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REMBREMNE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a
subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services
provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods, including sales of
cultural products and sales of systems and related
softwares, is recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the
goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

B.

EBEHBE

Revenue recognition (continued) W ER @)
. it is probable that the economic benefits . B 22 5 48 B 2 A R a1 AT BE R [A) AR
associated with the transaction will flow to the =8 Rk

Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of
the transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income and licensing income relating to
licensing and customisation is recognised when
services are rendered or when licences are granted.

Income from assignment of non-exclusive right relating
to systems and networks for a fixed fee under a
non-cancellable contract which permits the licensee
to exploit those rights freely and the Group has no
remaining obligation to perform is recognised when
the rights of exploit and use of design of products are
granted.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance
from assets under operating leases, is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income from a financial
asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’'s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Nil
Buildings on freehold land 50 years
Leasehold land and Over the shorter of the remaining
buildings unexpired terms of the relevant
leases or 50 years
Plant and machinery and 10% — 50%
communications networks

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases, in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as "prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is released over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment (other than development costs for
systems and networks and financial assets)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset
(or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESFHBE#®)
(continued)
Leases HE

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Development costs for systems and networks

Development costs for systems and networks
projects including those paid to independent system
developers, are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
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REMBREMNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Development costs for systems and networks
(continued)

Development costs are recognised only if all of the
following have been demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the asset and use or
sell it;

—  the ability to use or sell the asset;

— how the asset will generate probable future
economic benefits. Among other things, the
entity can demonstrate the existence of a market
for the output of the asset or the asset itself or,
if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the
asset;

— the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the asset during its development.

Development costs that do not fulfill the above
conditions are recognised as expenses in the period in
which it is incurred.

Amortisation is calculated based on straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, subject to a
maximum of three years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Development costs for systems and networks
(continued)

Where the recoverable amount of development costs
for systems and networks has declined below their
carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to
reflect the decline in value. Where an impairment
loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

An item of development costs, including any deposits
and prepaid development costs for systems and
networks is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Research expenditures

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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Financial instruments $RIA
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised EEEERKABHMIEGNGERZETINN
in the consolidated statement of financial position B SREEREBEBESEHEEVBRLR

when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. The accounting policies adopted in respect
of financial assets are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and
of allocating interest income over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.
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—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

B.

FESHBER @)

Financial instruments (continued) 2RI A&
Financial assets (continued) PHEEE)
Loans and receivables B REKEN

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
and other receivables, deposits, bank balances and
cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial
assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments
and an increase in the number of delayed payments.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’'s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial assets original effective
interest rate.
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REMBREMNE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it
is written off against the allowance account.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued
by a group entity are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

B.

FESHBER @)

Financial instruments (continued) ERIE#)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) THEERER THA(E)
Effective interest method (continued) ERFR % (&

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables
and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Distributions settled in shares are recorded at market
price at the date of issue and credited to the share
capital and share premium, respectively.

Derecognition

The Group derecognised financial assets only when
the contractual rights to receive cash flows from
the assets expire or, when it transfers the financial
assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognised a financial liability when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid or payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that the Group will be required to settle
that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured
at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in,
first-out method except for cost of cultural products,
which are assigned by using specific identification cost
method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before
taxation’ as reported in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable and deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
group entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (the translation
reserve). Exchange differences are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss and comprehensive income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company operate a self-
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administered and funded pension scheme in the TER KRB F & o phEH &I TR
United Kingdom. The scheme provides defined pension EER f?FE%ZE*M%ﬁM&EEﬁf%iHﬂTE
benefits with reference to the final salary of the ZERERRER - HFEB=ZTT=F—A

members at retirement and their length of service. The
scheme is closed to new members since 1 January
2003.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Retirement benefit scheme (continued)

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined
benefit retirement plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their
service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is
discounted to determine the present value and the fair
value of any plan assets is deducted. The calculation
is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected
unit credit method, when the calculation results
available in the form of any future refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contribution to the plan.

Service Cost and net interest expense/(income) on
the net defined benefit liability/(asset) are recognised
in profit or loss and allocated by function as part of
“administrative expense”. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in current period. When the benefits of a
plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the
portion of the changed benefit related to past service
by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is
regonised as an expense in profit or loss at the earlier
of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs
and when related restructuring cost or termination
benefit are recognised. Net interest expense/(income)
for the period is determined by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit liability/
(asset). The discount rate is the yield at the end of the
reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that
have maturity dates approximating the terms of the
Group's obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
retirement plans are recognised in other
comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss. Remeasurements comprise actuarial
gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset)) and any change in the effect of
the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net
interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset)).

=

REMBREMNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

FTEEHHRR®)

RIKEFETE ()

AEBREBRBARNGEIAAEZEEF
B TEBAEFHEENE B MBI IAR
HERB PRI KRR M ST E - £
ERERZIAN DA T ARE - MR EMR
AEBEEZATEME - AETFAAERS
HERAEG B EREETT  FEERZ
R B EAE BRI AR @ 2 © 585k AT 1R
Z ARG o

TRENEE(EE)FEIREKARF
B/ (WA FERBEER - MR
BB AITTRE 2Rz — 80 - BER
BRARAHR RS RGIEL Z ERBN
BEREZEMGE - Wt 2 @H H3RE
Sk fiat B4R - RIBRIE B IAERSS 218
Mz BB ER D B R MR 2 BB EIEH
& AT S AR R B S T AR R R AR A AR S A% b
BAF(AREERE)NBEERARFX
HAFISH (WA FENEBERGE
TEENAE (BE) MERAZHERXE
E o BREREEARRES (DM B EAEKE
BITEEZ BRI ) R IR & M 4505 2 e

ERENERTEIEEZEENEMtEEK
mARRLNENERERMNPRE - B A&
HREEE EEERBERENEBE - &
FEEWNR(TREATEENEE (B
E)FRE2MNSFR 2B REE LRSI
ZEMEE(TREFATEEFEE (&
BE)FE ZMNEFRZIEHE)



e MBRE

&£

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related party

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent;

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personal services to the reporting entity or
to the parent of the reporting entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Related party (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

(a) Critical accounting judgements in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Classification of inventories

The Group holds certain cultural products for
resale in the ordinary course of business.
Although the value of cultural products may
appreciate over time, it is the Group's intention
to hold such assets for trading. Accordingly,
those items of cultural products are classified as
inventories under current assets.

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated impairment of development costs
for systems and networks and deposits

Determining whether development costs
for systems and networks, and deposits are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in
use on a project-by-project basis. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flow expected to arise from
the continuing use of the assets or since
successful launch of technology projects and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. The Group estimates its cash
flow projection covering a period up to five
years based on financial budgets approved by
management and a discount rate ranging from
10% to 25% (2016: 10% to 25%) per annum.

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the
Directors have continuously studied the market
conditions of the information technology
industry with the intention to invest in leading
technologies with high earning potential.
However, other than those systems owned and
developed by Multitone, the Directors had not
been able to establish whether the rest of the
systems owned by the Group were still able to
generate any revenue to the Group, especially
after the granting to independent third parties
during the year ended 30 June 2016 the non-
exclusive right to exploit and use the design of
certain of the Group’s developed systems and
networks. Noting that no revenue was generated
from the systems sales and licensing segment in
Asia pacific region during the year, the Directors
considered it prudent not to project for any
positive cash flow from those systems in the
foreseeable future. Therefore, management
decided not to make any further investment into
the existing development projects in Asia pacific
region but will maintain its investment in the
European region as the relevant technologies
are still developing well and the management of
Multitone has kept increasing its market share in
different parts of Europe. The Directors consider
it is not a discountinued operation during the
year ended 30 June 2017.
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SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment
loss, the Group takes into consideration
the estimation of future cash flows. A
considerable level of judgement is exercised
by the management when assessing the credit
worthiness and past collection history of each
individual customer. Any increase or decrease
in the impairment losses for bad and doubtful
debts could affect profit or loss in future years.
As at 30 June 2017, the carrying amount of
trade receivables was HK$17,833,000 (2016:
HK$23,729,000).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market price of similar products
and historical experience of distributing and
selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each
reporting date.

At 30 June 2017, the carrying amount of the
Group’'s inventories was HK$1,658,321,000
(2016: HK$3,397,308,000).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS €@THE
Categories of financial instruments EWMITEER
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets EREE
Loans and receivables B3R MR K
(including deposits, bank balances (BREER - RBITHER
and cash) ERE) 111,756 108,623
Financial liabilities CRIBE
Trade and other payables FERE 5 R EMR 34,895 29,124
Amount due to a director JEff—REEFIA 3,000 —
Bank borrowings RITEE 3,636 7,354
Amortised cost T I 41,531 36,478
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEEEREE

policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, interest bearing bank
borrowings and amount due to a director. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2017, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to
trade receivables, the management of the Group will
only allow customers with good credit history to pay
on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account of
future discounted cash flows, to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks
with high credit ratings, the Group does not have
any other significant concentration of credit risk.
Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers, spread across diverse industries and
geographical areas. Liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of borrowings and the compliance of loan covenants.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based
on the agreed repayment terms. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows.

To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount of interest payment is estimated
based on the interest rate at the end of the reporting

E@T Rz
BXEREEEERBE (&)

mBELmE(E)

BB EEERK - TRAIAREZ SR
BEZFBANFH  IRDERAKERS
AHEREEZSHABRRBERRS R
e BARME  HARBHERGRZRT
fEE - MWRTTREBEITERERN 2R
K HEFARERHR - METEESRE
BEZ B A VAP E B8 A I AER - 5K
BENEREEZHER °

BFPHMEFEZNETIRERS PR
ZHREERBBRMNENHEE -

period.

Effective Within Total Carrying
interest  one year or undiscounted amount at
rates on demand 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows 30 June 2017
S
“E-tf
RER ~A=TH
ERAZE 1ERIEEN 122F 225% ReRAR ZBEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt TEn TEn TEr A7 FAr

2017 ZE-tF
Trade and other payables BN E 5 REMER - 34,895 — = 34,895 34,895
Amount due to a director B —ZEZHE - 3,000 - - 3,000 3,000
Bank borrowings fi7fEE 26 3,688 - - 3,688 3,636
41,583 - - 41,583 41,531
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. TMIRw@)
MHEEABEEERRBE &)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) HEELEE(E)
Effective Within Total Carrying
interest one year or undiscounted amount at
rates on demand 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows 30 June 2016
N
ZE-RF

RER ~A=1H
BRI 1 ERSREY 1524 2555 BeTeE LERE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=R FEL FEL FEL FET FET

2016 ZE-RE
Trade and other payables ~ EEHREMER = 29,124 = = 29,124 29,124
Bank borrowings BITEE 28 3,823 3,728 - 7,551 7,354
32,947 3,728 — 36,675 36,478

fFEBF R B ENRERTERETZ
FRMGEEFAEE A EXBBMEITESR
BEFHNETAZ CBEEAMEE -

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined
at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings and bank
deposits. The interest on bank loans is mainly based
on London Inter-bank Offered Rate. The Group does
not enter into any arrangement to hedge cash flow
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arises.

FIEmE

AEEEEARTZERITERERRITERZ
REnMERR - RITERF S L ERBH
RITAERBFE - NEBE B A WE] L
AR GEASIRIR SR A RER - A B
BemiEEMEmlk XREZEEER
HEARM KRR B L ITIRIE o
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate deposits, bank balances and bank borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming that the amount of balances
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis points
(2016: 10 basis points) increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2016: 10
basis points) higher or lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's profit after tax for the
year ended 30 June 2017 would increase or decrease
by approximately HK$73,000 (2016: increase or
decrease by HK$66,000).

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement
in foreign currency exchange rate which will affect the
Group’s financial results and its cash flows. Certain
trade receivables and bank balances of the Group
and intra-group current accounts are denominated
in foreign currencies. The Group does not engage in
any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the
Group's policy to manage foreign currency risk through
matching foreign currency income with expense, and
where exposure to foreign exchange is anticipated,
appropriate hedging instruments will be used.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

@ KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @I R

Financial risk management objectives and BXRREEEERBEKR %)
policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued) I EE B (4E)

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign AEBEEEUIINESHEZEREEREE
currency denominated monetary assets and monetary BEBEEEAKNERATIMAZERE)REK
liabilities (including intra-group current accounts) at the SRAZEEBERNT

reporting date are as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =0 BE afi
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Euro BT 14,415 — 10,204 —
Hong Kong dollar BT 1,684 — 18,661 3,029
Pound Sterling e 855 - 593 —
Macau Pataca SR 5,624 - 395 —
United States dollar 37T 394 - 922 —
Sensitivity analysis BURE AT
The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign FEE R E EARE 2 INER R 2R B BT R R
currency risk from Euro and Pound Sterling. Under the 5o MHBERKGT  EERABITER
pegged exchange rate system, the financial exposure PIETE R &) 2 BE IS RBR AR 1 - B8 bt 30 B4R
on exchange rate fluctuation between Hong Kong SIBRE DT ©

dollar and Macau Pataca is considered insignificant by
the Directors and therefore no sensitivity analysis has
been prepared.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the group entities’
sensitivity to a 5% (2016: 5%) increase and
decrease in Euro and Pound Sterling against each
group entity’'s functional currency. 5% (2016: 5%)
is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5%
(2016: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in profit before
taxation where Euro and Pound Sterling strengthen
5% (2016: 5%) against each group entity's functional
currency. For a 5% (2016: 5%) weakening of Euro and
Pound Sterling against each group entity’s functional
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit.

E@T Rz
BXEREEEERBE (&)

EmEE(AE)

TRHAADFIAEEERER TR RE LR
SHEB R EE 2 EX FHRTHEL%
(ZE - RE:b%) 2BEE-5%(=F
—AREF %) IREEERRRAEIEER
ABHMENERBREARAZBEELE
HRREEEHINEERQIBA AR 25T
i - MRERESITEBEAINEAEZ REN
EWIHE - WHEASMEEXZEH5% (ZF—X
F %) HHEFEZHBEFEHAE - UTLE
EERMETEREL S EEERBINEEY
FHES% (ZZ—7RF : 5%)RB KRR
MEF - BT RAFL S EEERDER
BB EE% (ZF—NF : 5%) * BIGEEF
BREREE 2 BRZE -

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Euro BRI 721 510
Pound Sterling g 43 30

In the management’'s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities

The Directors consider the carrying amounts of
financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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REMBREMNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(a)

Revenue

Revenue represents the amounts received and
receivable for goods sold and services provided
by the Group to external customers, licensing
fees and leasing income received and receivable
during the year.

The revenue of the Group comprises the

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

(a) Wz

Wasig F AR EER A RERHE
2= MR IR 2 B e Ko B WA -
B R EKRASFEERREERA -

AREEZWHEBHE NISIE

following:
2017 2016
—E—tF ==X

HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Sales of cultural products HE X LEM - 522,709

Sales of systems and related HERGMIEEESR
products 92,737 583,010
Licensing fees (note) FEET B (M15E) — 927,399
Rendering of services R AR 26,270 31,398
Leasing of systems products HERXFESR 21,847 25,910
140,854 2,090,426

Note: On 6 April 2016, the Group entered into
agreements with various independent third
parties granting them non-exclusive rights
to exploit and use the design of the Group’'s
systems and networks where the parties may
freely assign, transfer, delegate, sub-contract or
sub-license any of their rights by giving notice
to the Group. During the year ended 30 June
2016, the Group received an aggregated income
of HK$792,285,000, which was non-refundable,
and such income was included in licensing fees
income.

Mt - RZT—XR"EMAXRE AEEHRS
BB E=HEIHAR THMIIES
KIER AR RIRAREB R KRB
ERE HMANSHAEAEREE
WERT » BITHE - E:E - &5t
DHSBEEEEME S B 2R - #
BT —RERNA=ZTRHLEFEAS
B Y E & £ 792,285,000 7% 7T 2 48U
ARTAGRE - A BIER T
BUaEA ©
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(b) Segment information

The operating segments have been identified
on the basis of internal management reports
prepared in accordance with accounting policies
conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the executive directors of the
Company, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance.
Three operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are identified as

follows:
e Sales of cultural — includes income from trading
products of cultural products
e Systems sales and — includes income from
licensing sales of systems
and related products,
software licensing
and customisation and
provision of related
services
e |easing of systems — includes income from leasing
products of systems products

The accounting policies of the operating and
reportable segments are the same as the Group's
accounting policies described in the consolidated
financial statements. Segment results represent
the loss before taxation earned by each
reportable segment, excluding interest income,
finance costs, unallocated income and expenses
such as central administration costs and
directors’ salaries. This is the measure reported
to the executive directors of the Company, the
chief operating decision maker, for the purpose
of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WERISEER

(continued)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) DEER#)

Information regarding the above segments is AL EERMZ|MAT ¢
reported below:

Sales of Systems Leasing
cultural sales and of systems
products licensing products Consolidated
HEXL RGHE HERS
Em RisTRE Em mE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended HE-Z—tF
30 June 2017 AR=THLEE
REVENUE Wi
External and total HIMNEE R B
revenue - 119,007 21,847 140,854
RESULTS ¥E
Segment result DA (1,740,595) (8,891) 3,045 (1,746,441)
Interest income FBWA 180
Gain on disposal of  HEKBAR z Uz
subsidiaries 2,167
Finance costs B A AR (146)
Unallocated expenses, &xD S — 358
net (11,935)
Loss before taxation  FRFEATEE (1,756,175)
2 tLEER | B

BEBERAT @
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)

6. WEkoEER®)

(b) 2EEBR @)

Sales of Systems Leasing
cultural sales and of systems
products licensing products  Consolidated
HE ML REtHE HERH
Em KR ETHE Em R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET & T
Year ended BE-_Z—X%§
30 June 2016 AB=THLEE
REVENUE Wi
External and total HHNEE B
revenue 522,709 1,541,807 25,910 2,090,426
RESULTS ES
Segment result DS 78,064 (98,443) 3,611 (16,868)
Interest income FEWA 3,373
Gain on disposal of ~ HEMBAR 2z
subsidiaries 11,773
Finance costs B 5 P A (350)
Unallocated expenses, AD LAY — F5
net (15,677)
Loss before taxation  FRFHRETEE (17,749)
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(continued)

(b)

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WEksEER®
Segment information (continued) (b) DEER#)
Sales of Systems Leasing
cultural sales and of systems
products licensing products Consolidated
HEXL AGHE HERK
Em RASTE Em =E
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended HE-Z—tF
30 June 2017 ANAZTHLEEE
Amounts included in  FARFTEDBEF K
the measure of BEZEE
segment profit or
loss:
Amortisation and BHERITE
depreciation - 14,318 1,334 15,652
Impairment losses HEEMER
recognised for REEE
inventories 1,740,108 — - 1,740,108
Impairment losses RERRAERAE
recognised for XA TR 2
development costs  JRIEEE
for systems and
networks — 14,650 - 14,650
Year ended BE-Z-—~F
30 June 2016 ARBE=THLEE
Amounts included in BN E 5 BEF =k
the measure of BEzeE
segment profit or
loss:
Amortisation and BERTE
depreciation — 501,025 2,326 503,351
Impairment losses BEG R BB
recognised for XA FTHERR 2
development costs  JREEE
for systems and
networks — 633,604 — 633,604

No assets and liabilities are included in segment
reporting as they are not regularly reviewed by

the executive directors of the Company.

MRAAARTEFREREERA
R T MER - MR BEMAR
PBRENTE -

T-tFEER EREEHARAA
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(continued)
(c) Geographical information

The following table provides an analysis of the
Group's revenue and non-current assets by
location of customers and by location of assets
respectively:

WaEkoBEERz)

(c) HEHEHR

REEDRREF REEMAELE D
ZWEE RIERBEEDTHIIN T

Revenue Non-current assets
Wy & ERBEE
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
BEAA=1THLEFE RAB=1H
2017 2016 2017 2016
—T—tF —ERE —E—tF —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
People’s Republic of  F1%E A RHFIE
China (the “PRC"), (THREDBE
including Hong B KR
Kong and Macau - 888,695 11 21,715
Europe (mainly BN (EZRKRE R
United Kingdom =)
and Germany) 140,854 432,571 31,355 31,814
Japan =N - 470,738 - =
Others HAd - 298,422 - 1,571
140,854 2,090,426 31,366 55,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(continued)
(d) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding
years contributing over 10% of the total sales of
the Group are as follows:

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

WEkoBEER 2

(d) FEFEFZEHR
TR B 4F S 4 AN SR B 9 R 0 W A

Customer A BEA
Customer B ZFB

10% 2 BFPWEIT -
2017 2016
—ZE—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
= 458,008
= 316,992

Both customers contributed revenue from
licensing fees during the year ended 30 June
2016.

No single customer contributed 10% or more to
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 June

RE-T-—AFAA=HELEE .
MR R R P S EA -

BHE_ZT—+tFRA=THLFE"
WEE -FPRRMASE W 10%

2017. PAE -
OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HA > WEREE

2017 2016
—ZE—tHF —ET—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income FEWA 180 3,373
Exchange gain/(loss), net P& S Ukzs(E518) 38 227 (2,624)
Others EHAh 3,480 3,327
3,887 4,076

FINANCE COSTS 8. HMBHA
2017 2016
—ZE—tHF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on bank borrowings IRITEEZH B 146 350
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

9. KRBIATEE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—NHF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FEL
Loss before taxation has been arrived BRI ATERED K :
at after charging:
Directors' remuneration (note 10(a)) BExWMe (M5 10(a) 1,203 5,098
Staff costs excluding directors’ EERAN(TRIEESHE)
remuneration 69,800 84,272
Retirement benefit scheme BREFETEIER(ESRRIN)
contributions other than directors 5,357 5,301
Total staff costs E Bk AN 4258 76,360 94,671
Amortisation of development costs for Z &t & A4S 4R 5 2 pk 78 > #5 £5
systems and networks, included in (FFASHERAA)
cost of sales (note 16) (Kt 16) 7,044 492,515
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BEREEITE
equipment, included in general and (FEA—MRITERZEA)
administrative expenses (note 15) (K1 15) 8,608 10,836
Total amortisation and depreciation B R ITE AR 15,652 503,351
Auditor’s remuneration 12 €l 2,531 2,587
Cost of inventories recognised as BEERAI L 2 FERKA
expense 60,792 881,691
Minimum lease payments paid under IRBRLHAEL Nz HEAE
operating leases in respect of: NREBRLRE
Rented premises HEWE 1,892 2,105
Motor vehicles RE 2,834 2,139

@ KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017



10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Year ended 30 June 2017

Directors and chief executive’'s
remuneration

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to
section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefit of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

REMBREMNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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10. EEMT  BEHALIREEE

BAEZEHE

(a)

ESRITRARZHE

RIBEE R A& P15 383(1) & R 22 A
(BREBEEENDRER)ROE2 - 5
EEMecEREELT

BE-Z—tFXRA=ZTHLFE

Salaries  Performance  Retirement
and related benefit Total
other incentive scheme directors’
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments
§ek - BIERR BRER
He HttER  BRe%S TR ESMesE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
T FET FET FET FET
(note (xi))
(K (i)
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Yang (note (i) RiEEMF() 40 = = 3 43
Mr. Liu Ka Lim (note (i)~ BEEEZEMLN) 40 = = 3 43
Ms. Lei Lei (note (iii) EELL (W (i) 12 - - 1 13
Mr. Lin Xiang (note (i) REESE A (A3 i) 12 - - 1 13
Prof. Paul Kan Man Lok BXEHEM# )
(note (iv)) — 28 - — 28
Mr. Lai Yat Kwong RAXEEWZN)
(note (v)) — 27 — — 27
Ms. Shirley Ha Suk Ling ERBLT (M)
(note (vi)) — 39 208 9 613
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Leo Kan Kin Leung R KA E i)
(note (vii)) 2 B - — 7
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Frank Bleackley Frank Bleackley £
(note (viii) (Wi i) 50 49 - - 99
Prof. Julia Tsuei Jo EVHE
(note (vi)) (i) 23 22 = = 45
Ms. Miranda Ho Mo Han OEY Len 78 78 = — 156
Mr. Yang Rusheng BUERE
(note (ix)) (Wit i) 110 = = = 110
Mr. Clayton Ip (notefx)) EREEE (Bt () 6 = = = 6
373 605 208 17 1,203

T+ E R EREEARAA @
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive'’s
remuneration (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2016

10. ESME BEFATIRSEE

BAEZEHE #)
(a) BEERTHARCZME 2)

BE-_Z-R"EAA=+tHLFE

Salaries  Performance  Retirement
and related benefit Total
other incentive scheme directors’
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments
&Rk  BIERB BAKER
Hhe HiRR  BHege FEME ESMeNE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr FET FET FiET FiET
(note (xi))
(B )
Executive directors HTES
Prof. Paul Kan Man Lok BXEHR H# )
(note (iv)) — 57 3,300 — 3,357
Mr. Lai Yat Kwong RAXEEWZN)
(note (v)) — 57 — — 57
Ms. Shirley Ha Suk Ling Bkt (#Ewm)
(note (vi) — 876 465 18 1,359
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Leo Kan Kin Leung BER KEWE i)
(note (vii)) b 20 — — 25
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Frank Bleackley Frank Bleackley £
(note (viii) (Hizt i) 50 50 - - 100
Prof. Julia Tsuei Jo ERAR (Wit v)
(note (vi)) 50 50 — — 100
Ms. Miranda Ho Mo Han ARETL 50 50 — - 100
155 1,160 3,765 18 5,098
Notes: Kzt -
(i) Mr. Cheng Yang had been appointed as an (i) BELtER-—_ZT—XNE+A=RH&

executive director and the chairman of the Board
on 3 October 2016 and has resigned subsequent
to the year on 15 August 2017.

(ii) Mr. Liu Ka Lim has been appointed as an
executive director on 3 October 2016.

(iii) ~ Ms. Lei Lei and Mr. Lin Xiang had been appointed

as executive directors on 20 March 2017 and
resigned subsequent to the year on 7 July 2017.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(a)

Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

Prof. Paul Kan Man Lok has resigned as an
executive director and chairman of the Board on
30 September 2016.

Mr. Lai Yat Kwong has resiged as an executive
director and the Chief Executive of the Company
on 3 October 2016 and his emoluments disclosed
above include those for services rendered by him
as the Chief Executive.

Ms. Shirley Ha Shuk Ling and Prof. Julia Tsuei
Jo have retired as an executive director and
independent non-executive director, respectively,
on 13 December 2016.

Mr. Leo Kan Kin Leung has resigned as a non-
executive director on 3 October 2016.

Mr. Frank Bleackley has retired as an independent
non-executive director on 20 March 2017.

Mr. Yang Rusheng had been appointed as as
an independent non-executive director on 13
December 2016 has resigned subsequent to the
year on 11 July 2017.

Mr. Clayton Ip has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 14 June
2017.

The performance related incentive payment
is discretionary as recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group's financial results and the
performance of the Directors.

During the year, no emolument was paid
by the Group to any of the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or retirement from employment with the Group
or as compensation for loss of office (2016: nil)
except for long service payment, amounted to
HK$14,000 and HK$13,000 paid to Prof. Paul Kan
Man Lok and Mr. Lai Yat Kwong respectively
in 2017. None of the Directors had waived any
emoluments in both years.

(a)

= A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

B35 R & MR

10. EEMT  BEHALIREEE
BABZME )

ESRITRARZME @)

Hiat - (&)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

BXEHEN T —R"FALA=TH
BERTEERER -

BAXEENR_T—RF+H=B#
EARRRTEERTRAR  H L
XHE M e BEEEITITRAEHE
25

HERR LI RERBER T —F
TZATZHABIBERTEERE
TIMITESE o

BREREEN_T—RF+H=B#
EHFRITEE -

Frank Bleackley st AR =T —+F
A+ RREBUIRITES -

BMERER_F—RF+_H+=
BEZERBILIFNTES @ IR
REEHER-_T—tELA+—B#
=200

ERELEN_T—LFRATIA
BRERBIFRTES -

BIHERRERZREBBBEILE
MARBZHFMEE GRS U2E
AEEPBEEREETERRME

E ©

FRN - BRAMXEREREB N E
PRR=ZE—tEFINRBERES
14,0007 7t % 13,0008 7T oh + A&
EfEnEAEEI A - EARK
INAZER BRI A RS B 2 525
FRAAEERBBBEZT X
FoE)cMEFEN BEEEK
EEAME -
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive'’s
remuneration (continued)

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to
or for the executive directors and non-executive
director are generally emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of those persons’ other
services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

(b) Employees with highest emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group
included no (2016: one) director of the Company.
Details of the emoluments of that director for the
year ended 30 June 2017 are set out above. The
aggregate emoluments of the five (2016: four)
highest paid employees of the Group, not being
directors of the Company, are as follows:

10. EEME - REFALIRSEE
BAEZEME @)

(a) EERTRARZME @)

ARTEERFFRATEFTLINHET
ZHE  RHABYREN —RAMZ
FALTREEEEARARFAREMER
AZzEBARMZEMRE BN E
WS -

(b) mEFHER

FEEREBERFALTETRBEEZR
TE-RF: —RIERAEF Z
BEEREBE_T—LFXA=+H
LFEEZMEFHEHER LX - AEE
EBRAR(ZE-RF:  OR)&=FH
BE(XHARRES) 2Bl EHM
T

2017 2016

—ZT—tF A

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FHET

Salaries and other benefits e RHAMER 4,990 5,066
Performance related incentive RIVERIRB R Z 8D

payments 1,686 1,458

Retirement benefit scheme R FIET BB
contributions 494 537
7,170 7,061
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b) Employees with highest emoluments
(continued)

Emoluments of five (2016: four) employees were
within the following bands:

10.

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

EEMWE  BEHAIREEE
BAEBZME @

(b) BEHEE®)

BR(ZE-RF: NR)EEZHE
nFTEIEE

Number of employees

BEAZ
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$1,000,000 — HK$1,500,000  1,000,00087c — 1,500,000 /& 7T 3 —
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T — 2,000,000 77T 2 4

There were no amounts paid during the year

(2016: nil) to the five highest paid employees
in connection with their retirement from

employment with the Group, or inducement to

join.

FANAEERERAREERESHAL
WA ANEE 2 BEAERIRE AR
M RIA(ZT—RF : f|]) »

—z-—+eel | EREBARAR @



e RSN
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

11.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
Year ended 30 June 2017

On 30 August 2016, the Group disposed of its entire
interest in Vision Kingdom Limited and its subsidiary,
Smart (Macao Commercial Offshore) Limited to
an independent third party for a consideration of
HK$3,000,000 fully satisfied by cash. The consideration
was received during the year ended 30 June 2016 and
has been included as other payables as at 30 June
2016.

As at 30 August 2016, the carrying amount of net
assets disposed of amounted to HK$833,000, mainly
representing deposits, bank balances and cash of
HK$863,000, other receivables of HK$58,000 and
other payables of HK$88,000. The net gain on disposal
amounted to HK$2,167,000.

Year ended 30 June 2016

On 20 April 2016, the Group agreed to dispose
of its entire interest in Shenzhen Helper Science
(“Shenzhen
Helper”) to an independent third party at a
consideration of RMB9,170,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,076,000) satisfied by the transfer of shares of
Aspire Management Limited (“AML") at a value of
RMB5,340,000 (equivalent to HK$6,450,000) and cash
of RMB3,830,000 (equivalent to HK$4,626,000). The
completion date of the disposal was 27 April 2016.

Development Company Limited.
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11.

HE M B DRz s
BE-Z—tFXA=tHLEE

RZZE—RNENA=TH  AEEHEER
Vision Kingdom Limited & £ Hff & A &) £ 5%
CRPEBFEERE) ERARA 22 MBR/RET
— %W\ E=7  R{EA3,000,000% 7T LA
ReBYEN - ZREERBE=_T—FA~
A=1THIEFEYBEE « Wt AT —~FRA
=+ RAZERNEMRIE -

RZZE—X"ENA=1+H BEEFEEZK
E{E /833,000 7T - EBABIED « RITHEH
K 37 4 863,000 7T * JE YK E i 5% 78 58,000
75 7T M B < Ho 4 5B 88,0008 7T © & 2 F
W5 2,167,0008 7T °

BE-ZE-AEXA=T+THLFE

RZZE—XR"FNA=-1+H AEBERELHE
HRRIImERBEAZEER A AGRY
WEBRDZE2HBESTFBLE=H KE
A A R #9,170,000 7T (18 5 111,076,000
o) BiREEARY5,340,000 (M %
6,450,000 7% 7T ) Z Aspire Management
Limited (TAML]) R fp EE kIR & AR
3,830,000 7t (FH% 74 4,626,000 78 70 ) E 1T ©
HEEKBHA-ZT—FONA=+tH-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Year ended 30 June 2016 (continued)

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

1. HEMBATRzWE®)

BE-Z-R"FXRAZ=THLEE®

As at 27 April 2016, the carrying amount of net assets RZZE—RNFMA=++tA8  FImEMRE
of Shenzhen Helper was as follows: HZEEFERT :
HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y - BB REEMZE15) 2,015
Development costs for systems & networks — Z&t R 4848 BB (H15216)

(note 16) 2,371
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 & H AR 13,084
Deposits, bank balances and cash T SRITEBRRRE 3,119
Other payables FE A E Ath BR 3R (4,791)
Net assets disposed of It &2 BEEFE 15,798
Cash consideration ReRE 4,626
Consideration satisfied by shares of AML LAAML BRI E R 2 R 1B 6,450
Release of translation reserve P 55 1 s 7 [ (783)
Net assets disposed of FritE 2 EEFE (15,798)
Non-controlling interest FEVEAR AR PR 2 17,128
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB ARz ME 11,623
Cash consideration ReRE 4,626
Bank balances and cash disposed of FriE & 2 RITHSR R ® (3,119)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEAZHEESRAFE 1,507

As at 27 April 2016, there was an amount of
HK$27,184,000 due to Shenzhen Helper by the Group
which had been eliminated in the Group's consolidated
financial statements. Such amount was waived upon
disposal of Shenzhen Helper and the gain was included
in the gain on disposal of subsidiaries above.

On 28 June 2016, the Group disposed of Good
Holdings Limited (“GHL") and Peak Vantage
Limited (“PVL") to an independent third party at a
cash consideration of HK$100,000 and HK$50,000
respectively.

As at 28 June 2016, the carrying amount of net
asset of each of GHL and PVL was nil. The net gain
on disposal of these subsidiaries was HK$150,000.
The net cash inflow arising on disposal of these
subsidiaries was HK$150,000.

RZZE—XRNEWA=-++tH BER
27,184,000 % 7t 2 AN 5 B FE AR ) i B AR BR
RENAEBILRE MRS R o LERK
REERYMEMRRHEER  FRKRER
BEREXHERBARZIREA -

RZBE—RFEFANAZ+NR XEEHE
Good Holdings Limited ([GHL]) } Peak
Vantage Limited ([PVL]) FB2E=77 3]
& REH 51 100,000 7% 7T K& 50,000 57T °

RZT—XNEXA=+NA  GHLXEPVLE
AZEEFEART HLEZSEWBARME
Z R 25 F 5 A5 150,000/8C - HEZSWE
NRAEAZEEMRAFEEA150,00087T °
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FREHZH

2017 2016
—E—tF —ET—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Current tax expense: BUEARI A S i

— United Kingdom (“UK") corporate — WE([RE ) E
income tax Fris#i 272 —
— Germany corporate income tax — RS 129 —
— Malaysia corporate income tax — BRARGEREH 4 —
405 —

The UK corporation income tax rate was reduced from
20% to 19% effective from 1 April 2017. UK corporate
income tax is calculated at 19% and 20% (2016: 20%)
on the estimated assessable profit derived from UK.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Germany, the
Group is subjected to corporate income tax at 15%
(2016: 15%) of the assessable profit of the subsidiary
which carried on business in Germany.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Malaysia, the
Group is subjected to corporate income tax at 24%
(2016: 24%) of the assessable profit of the subsidiary
which carried on business in Malaysia.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the "EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years. There is no estimates assessable profit
for PRC Enterprise Income Tax for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2016:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits derived
from Hong Kong. There was no estimated assessable
profit for Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years.

The low effective tax rate is attributable to the fact
that a substantial portion of the Group's profit neither
arose in, nor was derived from, Hong Kong and was
accordingly not subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax and
such profit was either exempt from Macau income tax
or not subject to taxation in any other jurisdictions.
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B20% BE19% - REMEMBRIIARE
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RIBEBZEREA - AEEARNEE
ETEB 2B AR Z ERBE NI 15%
ZTRF  16%) ZBERBINDEMAEHR -

RIBBRAE ER LA - REEARR
B OR PR HE 1T 267 2 MY ) 2 A) 2 REAR Bt g A
R24% (ZZ—7RF : 24%) 2 BIEGMBZE
FSME »

RIBPEARKMBECEMSEOE( REMR
BIEDROCEMSVORREED - FEZ
MR RN MR BRI 73 25% © M fE 4
Bt B DR PT S G T AR A o

ERFERIIVRE BB 2 G ERBUEF
#%165% (ZZF —/NF :16.5%) 2 B &t
HoRMER - BREBF S AL EEFER
FmF o

BRBRRE 2 R E AL B AR DN
FEREBRI - MIEREEEL - WBEAMMR
ERNGH - MULFRN S ERERFIME
Bk 7 Ho fth DA R AN B IE -
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12.

13.

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before taxation per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

12.

—+ %X A=+ A8 30JUNE 2017

FREB < a2

NEEZHRIBEGEERREMEEKER
BB RIESBEERAT

2017 2016
—E—tF A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&&=51)
Loss before taxation PR 7% A 518 (1,756,175) (17,749)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BEEBFEHE16.5%
16.5% (2016: 16.5%) (ZZ—7"%F : 16.5%)
STHECBIE (289,769) (2,929)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiary \,\‘rﬁl AVAM R L 2 B
operating in other jurisdiction YNGR NEIE Rl -7 204 81
Tax effect of profit not subject to tax or R EM FIEM & BERR 5k
exempted in other jurisdiction TR R ET R T 2 T
=24 (2,320) (11,943)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for /,\E‘Mﬂﬁ%ﬁ RIFR 2 P 2
tax purposes 2B E 290,499 10,870
Utilisation of tax loss previously not Q%@?I*ﬁﬁwzmﬁgﬂﬁ
recognised (569) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERRIEEE BT E 2,360 3,214
Others HAh - 707
Taxation for the year NEE 2 FIE 405 —
DIVIDENDS 13. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year HE-T—tFAA=THIEFE ¥R
ended 30 June 2017 nor has any dividend been BRERRETARE  BEREPTHEET
proposed since the end of reporting period (2016: nil). REZREEMRE(ZZ—RF &) -
LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$1,756,580,000 (2016: loss of
HK$11,764,000) and on the weighted average number
of shares of 986,538,000 shares (2016: 986,538,000
shares) in issue.

Diluted loss per share for the two years ended 30
June 2017 and 2016 were the same as the basic loss
per share as there were no potential ordinary shares
outstanding during both years.

BREAEBIIREBEAFERNRAREA AR
1ty &5 #81,756,580,000 8 Jo(= & — /X F ¢
E518 5 11,764,0008 1) R B 377 2 N#E F
5 R% 17 %8 B 986,538,000 f% (= T — /< 4 :
986,538,000 %) 5T & -

MR MR ERE ] ETEER - BitR
BE_Z—+HFR TR RFAA=THIE
MEFERNSFREHEHEREGRELNE
1BHER -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y%~ BERRE

Plant and
machinery
and
Land and communications
buildings networks Total
BE - #E
THRETF RBEGRG &t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FET
Cost BAE
At 30 June 2015 RZZ-0%/ A=1H 17,305 357,826 375,131
Currency realignment kS (2,381) (51,598) (53,979)
Additions RE — 10,012 10,012
Disposals & — (26,276) (26,276)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 11) HE—BRBARMET1) — (3,621) (3,621)
At 30 June 2016 RZE-R"EXA=TH 14,924 286,343 301,267
Currency realignment B AE (242) (10,056) (10,298)
Additions B — 7,125 7,125
Disposals HeE — (509) (509)
At30June 2017 WES—LFRA=TR 14682 282903 297585
Depreciation and impairment FERAE
At 30 June 2015 R-E-REXA=1H 4,397 328,984 333,381
Currency realignment [ % (1,097) (47,589) (48,686)
Provided for the year FREE 286 10,550 10,836
Eliminated on disposals I R B — (26,064 (26,064)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 11) HE—RMBARMZ1) — (1,606) (1,606)
At 30 June 2016 RZZE-R"EXA=TH 3,686 264,275 267,861
Currency realignment B X AE (45) (9,804) (9,849)
Provided for the year FREE 191 8,417 8,608
Eliminated on disposals SRR — (401) (401)
midbdveze RE—tHAA=tR S12 22481 266219
Carrying values REE
At 30 June 2017 RZZE—+ERA=1H 10,950 20,416 31,366
At 30 June 2016 RZZ—R"F~A=TH 11,338 22.068 33,406
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ - BERRE®)
(continued)
2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
The carrying values of the Group's REE it REE
property interests comprise: BIE
Freehold properties held outside RBEBAIMNEEFE KA
Hong Kong ERZME 10,893 11,248
Properties held outside Hong Kong under A ZE S AN R 575 & B
long leases (note) S ok EXC ) 58 90
10,951 11,338
Note: Owner-occupied leasehold land is included in property, Hiat - AR T RBFR D TREAIFMEID - HEE
plant and equipment as the allocations between the AERAZHETHEGFAYE BE KRR
land and buildings elements cannot be made reliably. (=
The Group leased equipment to customers on AEEREERESFAEERETERF - 1
operating lease terms. As at 30 June 2017, the —T—tFRA=1TH EHEZEIZREE
carrying value of such equipment, which was included 524,000 %70 (=Z— 754 : 596,000 L) 2
in plant and machinery and communications networks, FTABE - MERBEREAN -

amounted to HK$524,000 (2016: HK$596,000).

—E2- ey | ERaEEARAD @
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16. DEVELOPMENT COSTS FOR SYSTEMS . R R BRBRB AR

AND NETWORKS

2017 2016
—E—+tHF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost RAE
At beginning of the year F4 4,641,108 5,353,579
Currency realignment PE 5 2 (7) (908)
Written off s — (692,358)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 11) HE—RERBAR(MZT1) - (19,205)
At end of the year Fit 4,641,101 4,641,108
Amortisation and impairment B REE
At beginning of the year F4) 4,619,414 4,203,212
Currency realignment b % (7) (725)
Provided for the year FARE 7,044 492,515
Written off Ji1 55 - (692,358)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 11) HE B AR (AT 11) = (16,834)
Impairment losses recognised BERBEEE 14,650 633,604
At end of the year FHE 4,641,101 4,619,414
Carrying value BREE
At end of the year F4E — 21,694

Development costs for systems and networks include
all direct costs incurred in setting up and development
of systems and networks. The Group’s development
costs for systems and networks are amortised over
the estimated economic useful lives of 1 to 2 years
(2016: 1 to 3 years).

During the year ended 30 June 2016, due to the
continued poor market condition in Asia Pacific region,
management conducted a strategic review of the
Group's system sales and licensing segment business.
On 6 April 2016, the Group entered into agreements
with various independent third parties (being in the
business as developers) granting them non-exclusive
rights to exploit and use the design of certain of the
Group's developed systems and networks for a total
consideration of HK$792,285,000, which has been
included in revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016.
The Group retains its rights to sell those products.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16.

DEVELOPMENT COSTS FOR SYSTEMS
AND NETWORKS (continuea)

Due to the arrangement of the grant of non-exclusive
exploitation and design usage rights, the Group has
revised certain assumptions, including the expected
sales quantity and price, used for developing its
budget and estimated cash flows for the development
costs for system and networks. The recoverable
amount based on the value in use method using the
revised estimated cash flow was estimated by the
management at HK$21,694,000 and an impairment loss
of HK$633,604,000 was recognised in profit or loss
for the year ended 30 June 2016. The estimated cash
flows forecasts from the project covered a period of 1
to 3 years and was discounted at a rate of 10%-25%
based on financial budgets approved by management.

As at the end of the year ended 30 June 2017, the
directors of the Company reassessed the market
conditions in Asia Pacific region for the Group's
systems and networks and considered that they were
worse than previously expected. Further, no revenue
in Asia Pacific region was generated from the system
sales and licensing segment business. Management
conducted an impairment review of the Group's
system sales and licensing segment business in Asia
Pacific region. The impairment assessment took into
account the fact that no further development costs
will be provided by the Group for that segment after
granting the independent third parties non-executive
rights to exploit and use the design of certain of the
Group's developed systems and networks during the
year ended 30 June 2016. The recoverable amount
based on the value in use was estimated as zero and
accordingly, full impairment loss of HK$14,650,000
was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 30
June 2017.

16.
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EN & SEl k9o NE )

ERBLEBRARERRAERARMNZR
o AEEREITETRRE(EEEREER
B18) ERRPERERATEBE R
RER - BEENERABAENERREE
Rl mET IR € MG ET AT U [E £ %8 4 21,694,000
&I 0 BB K518 633,604,000 T E REE
—E-RNEXNAZTALEEIBSER
HEGFHRERBIARE—E=F - WRE
ERERZZMBEBERNT10% E25%
LEE AR o

REBEE-_Z—+tFNA=1THLEEXR ' &
RREEEHAEERARBERENBE
2R REBBUBEBEEEE - 1IN R&
HE RS ESBAEB AN KM EEE
FRs - EREHASERERMBEZ R
FIHE ST RE EEBETRESHN R
BFEEFEREBEE_ZT—A~"F~A=ZT
BILEFEERTBYE=HIEBREF AR
RERABNDAEBERE 2 ZRRBIEER
% AEBEBTIEHZDEE—PRHEMAE
BRA o MEREBEMEZAIRESEETA
T H 2 BUREEIE 14,650,000 8L E R
HE-_Z—tE X NA=TALEEENRE
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17.

INVENTORIES 17. &
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw materials R 6,602 6,578
Work in progress TR 5,786 4,243
Finished goods (note) K (H5E) 1,645,933 3,386,487
1,658,321 3,397,308

Note: Hiat -

(i) Included in finished goods are cultural products,
including precious stones and antiques, of
HK$1,638,975,000 (2016: HK$3,379,083,000) which
are held for trading and resale in the ordinary course of
business.

(ii) Around 82% or 117 pieces out of total 143 pieces of
cultural products (2016: 82% or 117 pieces out of total
143 pieces of cultural products) are stored in museum
operated by a company wholly-owned by Prof. Paul Kan
Man Lok, a director and substantial shareholder of the
Company up to 30 September 2016 and 1 October 2016
respectively, on consignment basis.

(i)~ In the opinion of the Directors, finished goods
amounting to HK$1,592,538,000 are not expected to be
realised within one year.

The Group had engaged cultural product/jewellery
experts to perform an inspection on the inventories
of cultural products. According to these experts,
downgradings and reclassifications were required to
be made on a number of inventory items of cultural
products. The Group engaged an independent valuer to
reassess the current market values of the inventories
as at 30 June 2017 based on the findings of the
cultural product/jewellery experts concerning the
grading and classification of the cultural products.
As a result of the assessment, the management of
the Group had determined that the net realisable
values of a number of the inventory items of cultural
products were lower than their costs and that the
shortfalls amounted to an aggregate amount of
HK$1,740,108,000. Accordingly, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of HK$1,740,108,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2017.
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(i) SR EBEEREBEERBEPREEEZX
tERBEEEREE)1,638975,00078
TT(=Z—7N4F : 3,379,083,000787T) °

(i) :./\1431¢X1I:Euu¢!~2@82%&1171#
(ZZ—RF: A 143 LERSP
z%inﬂ#)ﬁ&%%ﬁtﬁﬁ&zﬁ(ﬁ@‘l
%%%igﬂﬁiﬁﬁ‘x ERR 2 EWB Z AR
KE2EYER HIE=ZT—X<FNLA
=t+EE-ZE—XRE+A—HI -

(iii) BERA  BKGS1,592,538,000 % T T
TRR—ERER -

AEEEEEXMES FAERMLE
mEEETERS REZEERZ2ER
FEHMBOXLERFEBERETMRET
AREHHE - REBEEFE L HEMZ
BYWER, ETAERBEZENLERZH
URDEZER EFLAGEER =2 —+
FRA=TBHZREMISEE - A LilTE
R AEEEREEHEBOERTE
BRI #RFEERERAE  ZHEHE
1,740,108,0008 7T - it - NEBREH E
—E—+FXNAZ TR EFERRREESIE
1,740,108,000 7T ©
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18. EWE 5 K H bR

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade receivables U E 5 BR 17,833 23,729
Other receivables JrE LA At BR R 18,095 10,553
35,928 34,282

The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy
regarding its trade customers depending on their credit
worthiness, nature of services and products, industry
practice and condition of the market with credit period
ranging from 30 days to 180 days. For the year 2017,
the Group credit policy for sales of cultural products is
cash on delivery. The other receivables are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and refundable, and are expected
to be realised in the next twelve months from the end
of the reporting period.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

AEEREBIRELPETHRZEEBUR °
REREZEA BERERZEE - TR
RERTHBERMEGE TEFNF30HZE180
BEESH -N-T—tF AEEARBEE
NCERZEEBERAIEMNR - B HAM
R EIRI - TR ERARE - WHER
HEREEB T EARLR -

W E Z RN IME M EFRIZERA Y
ZIREAMEFIT

2017 2016

S
HK$°000 HK$000
FAT FET
0 — 60 days 0—60H 16,178 20,669
61 — 90 days 61 —90H 1,600 156
91 — 180 days 91 — 180 H 55 2,904
17,833 23,729

Before accepting any new customer, the Group's
finance and sales management team would assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and define
credit limits for the customers. Limits attributable to
customers are reviewed regularly with reference to
past settlement history. The Group’s finance and sales
management team considers trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit
quality as continuous repayments have been received.

RERERMFELR - NEEZHBEREE
EREGENHEERPZEEER IR
EEFPZEER BETEFPZEEES2E
BEARLSTEHETER ARPHEE
BHRE ARBEZHBRFEEERERRAR
RBHHARBEZ R E SRR EBRITFE
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18.

19.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivable that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired
are as follows:

18. EWWE S R HMERR (2)

18 51 2 H (R 8 5E 4 MBIV E 2 8 U E 2 Bk R
ZERERAHTANT

2017 2016

—E—+tHF ZE—RF

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

Neither past due nor impaired BABMAARE 16,178 20,669
Less than 1 month past due #HEA DR —1E A 1,600 3,060
1 to 3 months past due mH—==18A 55 —
1,655 3,060

17,833 23,729

Other receivables mainly represent the loan to an as
at 30 June 2017 independent third party amounting to
HK$5,744,000 as at 30 June 2017 (2016: nil). The loan
was secured by personal guarantee from independent
third party and at fixed interest rate of 10%.

DEPOSITS, BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

The deposits, bank balances and cash comprises short-
term deposits with maturity of three months or less
and cash held by the Group.

Certain bank balances and cash of HK$14,560,000
(2016: HK$20,807,000) were denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB"), which is not freely convertible currency in
the international market. The exchange rate of RMB
is determined by the Government of the PRC and the
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the Government of
the PRC.
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19.

R=ZT—tFRA=1+H BREMERE
EIEMB L E=FIRHE 2B E5,744,000 %
TL(ZE—RF E) ZEERBIYE=H
BPEAER  WIRETFE10% 515

BH - ROEBRES

R ROTEHERSSEINABAS=EA
FUNAZERFRRAEERFEZRE -

7%014,560,0008 7T (== —7<4 : 20,807,000
BIL)ZETRITEBRASTIAARE(TA
R DHE MAREILIETRBEEMNS
BHABRZEE AREERHFBERGE
- BATEEHZSESARTRRFER
ZHNE B Il FTARBR. ©
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. EREZREMERR
2017 2016
—EB—+tHF —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Trade payables BB SRR 7,487 10,975
Other payables FERTE M AR SR 48,596 50,065
56,083 61,040

21.

The aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period
is as follows:

BNESERNREMCERFREERAY
ZEREAMEFNT

2017 2016

—E—+tHF ZE—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHETT FETT

0 — 60 days 0—60H 7,487 10,975

The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from
30 days to 60 days.

Other payables mainly represent receipts in
advance from customers of HK$21,188,000 (2016:
HK$21,938,000) and accruals.

BEERZEREHNFI0BE60A -

ENEMERETEREREFR KA
21,188,000 JT(= F — 7N 4 : 21,938,000
BT RBREM -

WARRANTY PROVISION 21. RERE
2017 2016
Bt —T—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 July ntA—H 1,055 1,074
Currency realignment e H SR 44 (45)
Provided during the year FREE - 26
Utilised during the year RERBH (26) =
At 30 June WNA=+H 1,073 1,055

The warranty provision represents the management’s best
estimate of the Group's liability under 12-month warranties
granted on manufactured products, based on prior
experience and industry average for defective products.

REREREEERBBELBEIENEA
BREEm 2 BB ML - Biis TR R+ =@
HRE B A R B B EAREEL 2 REF
iy °

— T FFR EREEHARAA
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22. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director of the Company is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed term
of repayment and is repayable on demand. As at 30
June 2017, this director owns 18.12% beneficiary
interest in the Company.

P23

BN —RESERE

BN —RBEZHATERR - T8 - E&EH
TERARERERKEE RZT—tFAX
A=+H ZESHEAARRAI812% 22X
AR o

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. SRITEE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —ERF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT

The interest bearing bank borrowings BEEZFBRITEENT :

are repayable as follows:
On demand or within one year BB —FAEE 3,636 3,677
After one year but within two years —FBREMEAN - 3,677
3,636 7,354
Less: amount due within one year shown & - RREhBEET 27

under current liabilities R—FANERHz 58 (3,636) (3,677)
Amount due after one year R—FRIH S8 - 3,677

The bank loans bear variable interest at 2.55% (2016:
2.80%) per annum. The bank loans are unsecured.

As at 30 June 2017 and 2016, a corporate guarantee
was provided by Champion to a bank in respect of
banking facilities granted to the Group.

RITEFRIZ266E(ZZT—"F :280E) 2
FEVFRERETE - FTEIRITEF AEEA -

RCE—FR-FT-—NREXA=TH" ' B
ERAEEMERRITRERRTIEL AR
PR -

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 24. EBIREREFE

2017 2016
—E2—t& ZE—XRF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET F&T

Retirement benefit contributions to the MAKEZ EREEREEIX
Group's defined contribution scheme -F 2 BRAORAR I 3R 2,112 606

Retirement benefit contributions to the MASKEZ EERFEIX
Group's defined benefit scheme 2 RIRAE LR 3,262 4,695
5,374 5,301
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(continued)

(a)

Defined contribution scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate
in a retirement benefit scheme covering a portion
of their employees. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commencing from December 2000, the Group
enrolled all eligible employees in Hong Kong
into a mandatory provident fund (the “MPF")
scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF
scheme charged to the profit or loss represents
contributions to the MPF scheme by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the MPF scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in
the PRC are members of government-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the
respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the
specified contributions.

During the year, the total expense recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss of
HK$$2,112,000 (2016: HK$606,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by
the Group at rates specifies in the rules of the
schemes.
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24. RIKBRG 2

(a)

E RS ERE S

RRARETETHBARRBOES
RIRKEN S - ZEFIZEE
HEAEHEZEENRFA  AFRH
BIYXFEAREHZEESA -

B-ZZZF+ AR AEEAH
REBZMAERERREREMERLRS
iR estd c RBEakzBES
AR RBRIK A E AR EIRRES
FHEIRBIRE 2 e R Y RIE S AT EIME
HZ 5 -

NEBARTPEACZHEAREE AHEH
B4 75 BR T 4 % 2 BUS B IR K AE A
FTEIKE - AEBANETES L
T8 fR A (7] % 3B 0K 18 i &1 &1 4
R RZERMREHESD - FiEE
IR T AR B Bk R KB R AT 2
—AIE -

FR REGESRERZAXH
2,112,000 7T (=F —7<4% : 606,000
BIL) RAEEREZEFERAUBRTEZ
e SR SR B 2 FEAT 45K -
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 24. BRIKERIGFTE 2

(continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (b) EFEEAIFE
Certain subsidiaries of the Company operate a AAFETETHEB AT N ER R
self-administered and funded pension scheme in —BETEERERZENRE
the UK. The scheme provides defined pension 2o EtEINIREENRERE Z &K
benefits with reference to the final salary of R H RS E B IR M 2 ERR RS
the members at retirement and their length of o pktzt8g—ET=F— A —H#E
service. The scheme is closed to new members THEZHKESRHE o

since 1 January 2003.

The contributions which are determined by BIEABKRIEEME=FiLEi B
a qualified actuary on the basis of triennial Bl ZETHEET ZHR - IR
valuations using the projected unit credit method HHHB o REBUEE - BEE—&T
are charged to the profit or loss. Under the REECSRFEEBIENRS €8N
scheme, the employees are entitled to a pension T HRBEHE1.67% 22.50% 1% A] &
between 1.67% and 2.50% of final salary for BRECRGFHEFFE - KEE
each year of pensionable service at an age of 65. WERBEEMBRKREER - KL 25T
No other post-retirement benefits are provided. EEERTREMNAERBZEEMR
The most recent actuarial valuations of scheme BIYTR-_E—+tFANA=+THETL
assets and the present value of the defined i Principal and Senior Consulting
benefit obligations were at 30 June 2017 and Actuary of Buck Consultants Limited
were prepared by Principal and Senior Consulting Z Wes Jones?Zt (3 B 5 & B #
Actuary of Buck Consultants Limited, Mr. Wes 2EFE 8 )(ZF —/XF : Punter
Jones, Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Southall LimitedZ s R & x* &
Actuaries (“FIA") (2016: Head of trustee service Adam Stanley 5t A (BB E AT e
of Punter Southall Limited, Mr. Adam Stanley, ERe8)) R UFEETSHRE
Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries), for the EH - HEEEEREETEZRE
accounting reporting purpose. The assumptions TEBKRERRERHE BRIk HE
which have the most significant effect on the B 2 FHig o

results of the valuation are those relating to
the rate of return on investments and the rates
of increase in salaries, pensions and share

dividends.

The funded pension scheme exposes the Group HERRFEATAEEEERER
to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest % IR ERE - NERE  EE=/A
rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk. & )
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(continued)

(b)

Defined benefit scheme (continued)
Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan
liability is calculated using a discount rate
determined by reference to high quality corporate
bond vyields; if the return on plan asset is below
this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the
plan has relatively balanced investment in equity
securities, debt instruments and real estates.
Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities,
the trustee of the pension fund considers it
appropriate that a reasonable portion of the plan
assets should be invested in equity securities and
in real estate to leverage the return generated by
the fund.

Interest risk

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase
the plan liability; however, this will be partially
offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s
debt investments.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan
liability is calculated by reference to the best
estimate of the mortality of plan participants both
during and after their employment. An increase
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will
increase the plan’s liability.

Salary risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan
liability is calculated by reference to the future
salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase
in the salary of the plan participants will increase
the plan’s liability.
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24. RIKBRG 2

(b)

EEEAN B2
RE@B
EEEFHBEEZREDRLRE

BhXEHFRSERERE 2B K&
B EE 2B MENZL X
K& B BIEA - ZATBIBATES
BYEFEHZRAZES EHEIARE
WERE ERNFGEEBEZ AN
G RARESXEARSBFAIEE
EEBOIRERBABSREHE -
NERESMELZOHHRESE -

FIE m

BEHEMNEERGEMFEBE: A
- A8 2 B REERIEE
Fraboy K88 o

REmE

EHEEAMNFEABZREN 2 RS
SEENEXEHEEBBREZ 2T
Ry REMFE - FE2EELR
HS L NS gt BB A -

Frzmbg

EHEEAMNFEABEZREN 2 RS
DEEZRRFEE - Bk 5HE
SEEZFHEENEE NI EE -
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (continued)
Salary risk (continued)

The main actuarial assumptions used were as

24. RIKBRG 2

EBBA B (=)
HEmB(E)
PRz EBRHBRMT

follows:
At At
30 June 2017 30 June 2016
R-ZB—tF RZZT—RF
~NA=1H ~NA=+H
Discount rate BLER % 2.55% 3.00%
Expected rate of salary increase TEHA % € FHiE 3.40% 3.10%
Future pension increases RAGERIRE T8 3.20% 2.95%

The actuarial valuation updated to 30 June
2017 by Mr. Wes Jones (FIA) (2016: Mr. Adam
Stanley) showed that the market value of the
scheme assets was HK$361,767,000 (2016:
HK$348,512,000) and that the actuarial value of
these assets represented 86% (2016: 86%) of
the benefits that had accrued to members.

Under the recovery plan dated 31 May 2016,
the Group has agreed to contribute GBP340,000
per annum increasing at 4% on each 1 July
from 1 July 2018 into the plan. In addition, the
Scottish Limited Partnership for the plan has
been arranged such that the plan will receive
an income stream of GBP400,000 per annum
at 1 July 2018 increasing at 4% on each 1 July
thereafter. As at 30 June 2017, the duration of
the plan liability is 18 years (2016: 16 years).
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Wes JonesE £ (RBEBEHEMIBEE
AEEB)(ZT—7 F : Adam Stanley
EENEHE-_ZT—tFRA=T
HzREMERS SEEEZTE
361,767,000/ jo(= T — /X F :
348,512,000 7T) * MZEFEE IS
HEBAZHEEEEFRENZ86% (=
T—RF 1 86%) °

REBHAE-_ZTE—X"EFAA=1+—
Bz REE AEEREBEZZ
—N\FtA—AE RSEtA—A
| &% 5F &15F & 340,000 K 85+ 5 F 1
Ma% o Lo+ B Bkt 8l 2 HE &R 48
HMEREE SZFEBE=T—N\F
+tA—ARE®BZEEEA— AR
400,000 K& 2 WA - FFEEMNI% -
R—ZTE—tFNA=1+H " %Z:F8&
E2FERAETNF(ZZ—RF : +X
F) o



REMBREMNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 24. RIKERGFTE 2
(continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (continued) (b) EEERGTE (2
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement FERENRAGFENGABRRE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income R E RS KPR 2 ST -
in respect of the defined benefit pension plans are
as follows:
2017 2016
Bt NS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FE&T
Current service cost RITARFS A AR — (301)
Scheme administrative costs ETEITTEU A (1,562) (1,665)
Net interest expense FEXHFEE (1,700) (2,729)

Components of defined benefit costs  RIBZH DR 2 E 2B EH
recognised in profit or loss (included B BB

in general and administrative (FFA—R R
expenses) TEZH) (3,262) (4,695
Remeasurement on the net defined B EEEEMNAE

benefit liability: HEE
Return on plan assets (excluding TEIEE 2 B

amounts included in net interest (TBRFEEFFAFENE

expense) A 2a%) 36,163 38,358
Actuarial gains arising from changes AOBEREBEMELEZ

in demographic assumptions e e 4,656 4,684
Actuarial losses arising from changes B ERBESFES

in financial assumptions BEEE (41,749) (44,545)
Actuarial gains arising from experience &EFHEMELZIEE

adjustments W = 722 7,158

Components of defined benefit costs ~ REMEEKRFER 2
7

recognised in other comprehensive TE RE 18 FIpk AN K
income s (208) 5655
Total R (3,470) 960
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 24. BIRERFE(2)
(continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (continued) (b) EFEBEFEEI(E)
The amount included in the consolidated EAREE 7 FREEAENR S T2 & E
statement of financial position arising from the MEAZSBEF ALGE M BAKR
Group's obligations in respect of its defined = ooHaET

benefit pension plans is as follows:

2017 2016
—EB—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fair value of scheme assets FrEIEEZ A TFEE 361,767 348,512
Present value of funded obligations BeEiEZIRE (422,494) (406,333)
Net liability arising from defined ERRBAAEREEZ
benefit obligation BfEFE (60,727) (57,821)
The Group expects no contribution will be made AEFBBEAKTIER T —MBFEER
(2016: nil) to the defined benefit plans during the EREANFERR(ZT—RF - &) -
next financial year.
Movements in the present value of the defined ERRANAE 2 REZSHNT
benefit obligation are as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—XF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Opening defined benefit obligation FHEERFALE 406,333 452,675
Currency realignment PE & (4,056) (70,858)
Current service cost WIT R A — 301
Interest cost F B KA 11,389 16,086
Remeasurement (gains)/losses: BEFTE ) BB
Actuarial gains arising from changes AOBEREBEFAELEZ
in demographic assumptions BE M= (4,656) (4,684)
Actuarial losses arising from changes B EBRRESRELZ
in financial assumptions EEEE 41,748 44,545
Actuarial gains arising from KREBABRMEEZEE
experience adjustments W = (722) (7,158)
Contributions R — 127
Benefits paid Frit 1@l (27,542) (24,701)
Closing defined benefit obligation FHE BRI 422,494 406,333
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

REMBREMNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

(b)

Defined benefit scheme (continued) (b)

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets
are as follows:

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

24. RIKERGFTE 2

EFEEFHE )
HEGEZ ATEEZHNT

2017 2016

—e—t%  —T-A%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Opening fair value of plan assets FUAEEEZ ATEE 348,512 372,064

Currency realignment EH AR (3,492) (59,632)

Interest income FEHA 9,688 13,357

Scheme administrative costs FTEITTEU A (1,562) (1,665)
Return on plan assets (excluding AEEEZER(TBE
amounts included in net interest BEfAF B FRE

expense) & F) 36,163 38,358

Contributions R — 10,731

Benefits paid B 4@ 7 (27,542) (24,701)

Closing fair value of plan assets FHETEEEZ A TEE 361,767 348,512

The fair value of the scheme assets at the end of
the reporting period is analysed as follows:

SHEEERBREMTER ZATEE
DA -

2017 2016

—E—+tF —T—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Equity instruments (Quoted) Rz THEGRE) 318,878 295,215
Debt instruments (Quoted) BT AGRE) 33,828 34,309
Other assets Hith&EE 9,061 18,988
361,767 348,512

The actual return on scheme assets was
HK$44,289,000 (2016: HK$50,049,000).

8B E 2 B B3R A 44,289,000 7
JTT(—ZF—/N4 : 50,049,000 7T) °
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(continued)

(b)

Defined benefit scheme (continued)

Significant actuarial assumptions for the
determination of the defined obligation are
discount rate and expected salary increase. The
sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the
respective assumptions occurring at the end
of the reporting period, while holding all other
assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher/
(lower), the defined benefit obligations
would decrease by HK$18,222,000/(increase
by HK$18,222,000) (2016: decrease by
HK$15,321,000/(increase by HK$15,321,000)).

If the expected salary growth increases/
(decreases) by 0.25%, the defined benefit
obligations would increase by HK$8,141,000/
(decrease by HK$8,141,000) (2016: increase by
HK$7,150,000/(decrease by HK$7,150,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may
not be representative of the actual change in
the defined benefit obligations as it is unlikely
that the change in assumptions would occur
in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity
analysis, the present value of the definded
benefit obligation has been calculated using the
projected unit method at the end of the reporting
period, which is the same as that applied in
calculating the defined benefit obligations liability
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

There was no change in the methods and
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity
analysis from prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
unused tax losses of approximately HK$83,878,000
(2016: HK$85,221,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. These tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

25.
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I B TH

RBEHTLER  AEBERBAZH
I8 &5 18 4983,878,000/8 L(= T — XN F ¢
85,221,000 7t ) * Al B{EHEH A& 2 %
o AR KRAETERT B &R ZHEF IR - M E
TEREET I A E o I E R IEE 18 AT &R 5
AR o

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2017 and 2016,
there were no changes in the share capital of the

Company.

All shares issued rank pari passu with the then

existing shares in issue in all respects.

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 26. BRAK{#E
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) BAERARBD 22 H
The reconciliation between the opening and REBGERAEES D 2FNR
closing balances of each component of the FREMRBZHREHN G R ER
Group's consolidated equity is set out in the BEIRA - AR AR R 2% E 5
consolidated statement of changes in equity. 20 N E H) K G R ) 8h 5 1 SR Mt
Details of the changes in the Company's £33 °
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out in
note 33.
(b) Share capital (b) BRA
Number of shares Amount
RHBHE ¢
2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF —E—+fF —E-RF
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR FET T
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of BREE1BTZ
HK$1 each B 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
Balance at 1 July and RtA—BR
30 June NAZTBZ&EH# 986,538 986,538 986,538 986,538
Notes: Htat

(i) HE-ZT KT - F~A
=+HLEFE  NARRARELEE

28 -

FERBEETZRGESFARYER
RECBTRGZHRA%SE:S -

EREEHARAA
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—Z—+tF XA =+H 30JUNE 2017

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(c) Reserves
(i)  Share premium

The application of the share premium
account is governed by the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in share premium account
are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(ii)  Translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 3.

(iii) Special reserve

The special reserve represents the
difference between (i) the book values
of the underlying net assets of certain
subsidiaries at the acquisition date together
with the capitalisation of a shareholders’
loan and (ii) the nominal amount of
the Company's shares issued for the
acquisition. The special reserve is available
for distribution under the Companies Law
of Cayman Islands.

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Each of the Company and Champion has a share
option scheme under which eligible persons, including
directors of the Company, Champion or any of their
respective subsidiaries, may be granted options to
subscribe for shares of the Company and Champion
respectively.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

The Company

On 30 November 2012, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”). The
purpose of the Scheme was to attract and to
retain quality personnel and to provide them
with incentive to contribute to the business
and operation of the Group. Under the Scheme,
the Directors may grant options to any eligible
persons of the Group, including directors,
employees or consultants of the Company, its
subsidiaries or affiliates or any discretionary trust
whose discretionary objects include the aforesaid
persons or a company beneficially owned by
the aforesaid persons as well as customers,
suppliers or advisers of the Group, to subscribe
for shares of the Company. An option granted is
exercisable at any time for a period determined
by the Directors which should not be more than
ten years from the date of grant, where the
acceptance date should not be later than 21 days
after the date of offer.

The exercise price per share (subject to
adjustment as provided therein) of the option
granted under the Scheme is equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (ii)
the closing price per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; and (iii)
the average closing price per share as stated in
the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant. The maximum number of shares
in respect of which the options may be granted
under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the date
of approval of the Scheme. The total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time. The number
of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any one grantee in any 12-month
period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. The Scheme
will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing from 30 November 2012. No option
under the Scheme has been granted since the
adoption of such scheme.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

Champion

On 30 November 2012, Champion adopted a
share option scheme (the “Champion Option
Scheme”). The purpose of the Champion Option
Scheme was to attract and to retain quality
personnel and other persons and to provide them
with incentive to contribute to the business and
operation of Champion and its subsidiaries (the
“Champion Group”). Under the Champion Option
Scheme, the Directors of Champion might grant
options to any directors, employees or consultants
of Champion, its subsidiaries or affiliates or any
discretionary trust whose discretionary objects
included the aforesaid persons or a company
beneficially owned by the aforesaid persons as
well as customers, suppliers or advisors of the
Champion Group, to subscribe for shares of
Champion. An option granted by Champion was
exercisable at any time for a period determined by
the Directors of Champion which should not be
more than ten years from the date of grant, where
the acceptance date should not be later than 21
days after the date of offer.

The exercise price per share (subject to
adjustment as provided therein) of the option
granted under the Champion Option Scheme is
equal to the highest of (i) the nominal value of the
shares; (ii) the closing price per share as stated in
the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange on the
date of grant, which must be a business day; and
(iii) the average closing price per share as stated
in the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant. The maximum number of
shares in respect of which the options may be
granted under the Champion Option Scheme shall
not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of
Champion at the date of approval of the Champion
Option Scheme. The total maximum number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options must not exceed 30%
of the issued share capital of Champion from time
to time. The number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any one grantee in any
12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of Champion in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period, without prior approval
from Champion’s shareholders. The Champion
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing from 30 November 2012.
No option has been granted since the adoption of
such scheme.
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28.

29.

30.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank
borrowings, equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves
and retained profits/(accumulated losses).

The Directors review the capital structure on a
bi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Part of the consideration for the disposal of a
subsidiary that occurred during the year ended 30 June
2016 comprised shares transfer. Further details of the
disposal are set out in note 11.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

28. EXERER
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30. EAREE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Capital expenditure in respect of property, BEREERITNZBEBY
plant and equipment and development ¥ BEERREBHRGR
costs for systems and networks WrRFR IR Z BN
authorised but not contracted for - 9,750
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31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 31. KEHEZH
The Group as lessee AEBEERAEEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RIREHAT AR N"EFZERHARYERE
future minimum lease payments payable under non- ABEZ NI FHRETHERHEB RRERMN
cancellable operating leases in respect of rented HEFBZEHERAT -
premises and motor vehicles which fall due as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Land and Motor Land and Motor
buildings vehicles buildings vehicles
T REF AE T REF B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET T T
Operating leases which RT3 FBERZ
expire: KEHE
Within one year —FR 691 2,103 732 2,046
In the second to fourth E_FRENFR(BEE
year inclusive Em%E) - 2,738 48 3,155
691 4,841 780 5,201

Leases are negotiated for terms of one to four years
and rentals are fixed for terms of one to four years.
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31.

32.
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OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 31. KEHEZHEw)
(continued)
The Group as lessor AEBERBEAA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group MNBEHTER  XEBRERAMERET
contracted with lessees in respect of leasing of Eff ABFEESERBERAG ZRERER
premises and certain equipment which is included in RIMEH - HEHERMT
plant and machinery and communications networks,
which fall due as follows:
2017 2016
i 2 3 I
Plant and Plant and
machinery and machinery and
Land and communications Landand  communications
buildings networks buildings networks
B #e BE K&
THRER REERG T REF RiBfERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FET FET FET
Within one year —FR 134 209 138 646
In the second to fifth year inclusive ~ £-FEEREN(BEERRE) 201 9,357 392 8,974
Over five years BENE - 339 — 986
335 9,905 530 10,606
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEALRE

(i) During the year, the Group had the following
transactions with Champion:

i) FA AEERTEQETNIRS

2017 2016
—E—+tF —ERF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Nature of transactions REME
Fees paid by the Group to Champion 7 B4R AL A A TE B %
for the provision of office premises RPN =% KR
and facilities, and management URERRE2EA
services, on cost basis (note) (Kiat) 750 900
Fees paid by the Group to Champion ZN& B (AT E X B AR 7%
for treasury services ZBH 638 635

i

— T FFR BEEARRA
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year, the Group had the following
transactions with Champion: (continued)

Note: These transactions were carried out after
negotiation between the Group and Champion.
The fees paid for the provision of office premises
and facilities, and management services were in
accordance with the management agreement (the
“Management Agreement”) entered into with
Champion dated 20 December 1996, which was
renewed on 5 January 2010. The Management
Agreement were carried out in the usual course
of business and on normal commercial terms and
are in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing it on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Management Agreement constitutes a
continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules exempt from the reporting, annual
review, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

As at 30 June 2017 and 2016, a corporate guarantee
was provided by Champion to a bank in respect of
banking facilities granted to the Group.

The key management personnel of the Group are the
Directors and the five highest paid individuals. The
aggregate amount paid to them was HK$8,373,000
(2016: HK$12,263,000), details of which are set out in
note 10.

On 5 December 2016, the Company (as the
borrower) and Mr. Cheng Yang (“Mr. Cheng"”)
(as the lender), a substantial shareholder and
director of the Company who subsequently
resigned on 15 August 2017, had entered into a
facility agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Cheng
agreed to lend the Company up to HK$5,000,000
in aggregate principal amount which was
unsecured, non-interest bearing and had no fixed
term of repayment and was repayable on demand
(note 22). The transaction contemplated under
the facility agreement constituted continuing
connected transaction is as defined in Chapter
14A of the Main Board Listing Rules. However,
this transaction is exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board
Listing Rules as the transaction was on normal
commercial terms and no security over the
assets of the Company is granted in respect of
such financial assistance.
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY
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33. ARFHBMRRR

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)

Non-current assets ERBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL FfT B~ B FRIE 1,478,931 1,388,340
Interests in subsidiaries RSB AR 2 211,868 232,890
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 1,690,799 1,621,230

Current assets REEE
Other receivables JE UL A AR 3R 267 256
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE WP B A B8 128,452 —
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries eSO ANGIE S 32 —
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRIRS 12 17,003
128,763 17,259
Current liabilities RBEE

Other payables JE A~ E At BR 3R 2,153 4,956
Amounts due to subsidiaries XL IENGIE ] 1,474 —
Amount due to a director B —REEHAE 3,000 —
Dividend payables FEfTAR B 3 3
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 6630 4999
Net currentassets === RBEEFRE 122133 ... 12,300
Net assets EEFE 1,812,932 1,633,530

Capital and reserves MR A 15
Share capital A& s 986,538 986,538
Reserves (note) AP, 826,394 646,992
Total equity R 1,812,932 1,633,530
The Company’s statement of financial position was KRR ZHBERARRER -_ZE—+FNA

approved and authorised for issue by the board of

“HAHAEFSHARKETE YA T

directors on 29 September 2017 and are signed on its TIEERERE
behalf by:
LIU KA LIM TO YIN FONG CECILICA
Bk MY
Director Director
BF BF

T — 4 R EREEBRAA @
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. XARMBMRRTR 2
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: Movements of the Company's reserves during the Miat - RRABRAEFERBEFEZFHEEZDH W
current and prior years are as follows: T:
Retained
profits/
Share Special (accumulated
premium reserve loss) Total
REBR,/
R AR E RIS (R BE) &t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2015 R-ZE—AFtH—H 795,357 195,874 14,729 1,005,960

Loss and total comprehensive AFEEER AR A
expense for the year — — (358,968) (358,968)

At 30 June 2016 and 1 July RZZE—X"FXA=+HK
2016 BN = el =| 795,357 195,874 (344,239) 646,992

Profit and total comprehensive ARNEE#F| R 2 MmN E%E
income for the year — — 179,402 179,402

At 30 June 2017 R=B—+tFARA=1H 795,357 195,874 (164,837) 826,394
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 30
June 2017 and 30 June 2016 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
share capital/

ZZ—+$XA =+ 8 30JUNE 2017

TEWHEAT
RZB—tFRAZTARZZE—RFRA
=TH ARAZSFEMB AR Z B
TR ¢

Proportion of nominal value

of issued share capital

Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AL/ ERTRAEE/ ARREEBES
WEARER Bend e RAEELA ITEH
2017 2016 2017 2016
I5-tE ZE0E I3-tE ZE-R
Aspire Management Limited ~ British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
EEERRER US$2,636,320  USS$2,636,320 RARR
LER LER
263632051  2636320%T
Bingo Profits Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
KEARARES Us$1 Uss1 RERR
EBR TRk
137 1%
Financial Vantage Limited* Samoa Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Provision of treasury services
EBTEE Us$1 Uss$t REHTR
LER LR
157 157
Kantone (UK) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
£ £5,500,000 £5,500,000 REERK
LER gk
5,500,000%8%  5500000%%
Keen Pacific Limited* Samoa Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Provision of treasury services
BESRE Us$1 USs1 RUSBRHS
LBk EER
157 1%
Kontone Development Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Provision of treasury services
Limited* £33 HK$2 HK$2 RIETTRT
ERERARAT" LER 3l
2E7% BT
M.C. Holdings Limited* Cayman Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
REHE £5,500,002 £5,500,002 RERR
EER LBR
550000258  £5,500,002%5
Multitone Electronica Brazil Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Distribution of communication
Limitada it R$300,000 R$300,000 systems and equipment
LER LER i S E
300,000855H 300,000 %R
Multitone Electronics PLC United Kingdom Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding, design
ELG £3,830,107 £3,830,107 and manufacture of
EER LAk communication systems
383010788 383010755 and equipment

RERE R REERERAR
R
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34. XEMBRA T %)

Nominal value of issued
share capital/

Proportion of nominal value

Place of incorporation/ of issued share capital

Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AL/ BETRAEE/ ARREER RS
WEARER Bend g RAEELA TTEH
2017 2016 2017 2016
TE-tE “T-5E TE-tf 0
Multitone Electronics Malaysia Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Manufacture of communication
Sdn. Bhd. SRER MR285,000 MR285,000 systems and equipment
LER LR FEREZGRRE
285,000 285,000
BRELRT SREDT
Multiton Elektronik GmbH Germany Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Distribution of communication
L £1,022,584 £1,022,684 systems and equipment
EER LRk PEREZERRR
102258487 1,022,584E0L
Pearl Delta Inc.* Samoa/Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Provision of treasury services
EETHE /M Uss1 US$t RIET R
LER Lk
1%7 157
Shenzhen Hengyu Science and  PRC Registered Registered 100% 100% Investment holding
Technology Company i capital capital RABR
Limited" RMB24,000,000 RMB24,000,000
EENE (R ERAR AMERARE ERAZARY
24,000,000t 24,000,000
Silverstrand Investments Samoa Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited EEGHS Uss1 Uss1 RERK
EBR Eak
(£ (E3
Smart (Macao Commercial Macau - Ordinary - 100% Provision of services, software
Offshore) Limited" 2R MOP100,000 licensing and trading in
ER(RFRREERE) LRREM communication systems and
ERAF" 100,0007C equipment
RERE  QlRTER
BERRZARRE
Success (Macao Commercial ~ Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Provision of consulting services,
Offshore) Limited & MOP100,000  MOP100,000 research and development,
AR REERE) LAk LAk and trading of cultural
ERAA AR% ol products
100,000 70 100,0007 REBERRE  HERFEAR
EEXEm
Wollaston Limited* Samoa/Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
BEGHE/AM Us$1 Uss1 REER
LBk LAk
(£ %7
Zonal Care Incorporated* British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of treasury services
Macau Us$2 US$2 REMHRS
ABEBRHE /BN EER LRk
257 2ET
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES f(continued)

=

* Directly held by the Company

Wholly owned foreign enterprise for a term of 20 years
commencing 17 October 2003.

The subsidiary has been disposed of during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally
affected the results of the year or constituted a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 or at any
time during the year.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to
conform to current year's presentation and to provide
comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed
in 2016. Further details of these developments are
disclosed in note 12 and 33.
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34. TEMB AT (&)

35.

i HARREERA -

! 2EHNEGE  FHA-ZZT=FT+A++t
BiEst =14 -

) ZIBRRIENFERFEEE

ERFAIARBMBARNEERRYARFE
EXERERTESIBNAEHREEFES
REBZHWBRE - ERRE - W E MK
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£ o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS ¥E
Year ended 30 June
BEAA=THLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E—t§ ZZ—RF ZT-RF ZTWmE =ZT—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue W 140,854 2,090,426 2,544 174 2,720,286 1,953,394
(Loss)/profit from ordinary BRBAAE£K(EE)/
activities before taxation & F
(Loss)/profit from operating ReTHMEEEA &2
activities excluding other ¥%(EB)/ &7
operating items (1,741,525) 615,855 60,468 273,234 235,793
Other operating items HifE&IEE (14,650) (633,604) (47,595) (268,474) (157,656)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BHiAT (&), EF (1,756,175) (17,749) 12,873 4,760 78,137
Income tax expense FrEBi (405) = (2,205) = —
(Loss)/profit for the year rEE(BR) BT (1,756,580) (17,749) 10,668 4,760 78,137
Attributable to: FEAE
Owners of the company VAUNGIE DN (1,756,580) (11,764) 8,927 2,148 77,217
Non-controlling interests ER S T - (5,985) 1,741 2,612 920
(1,756,580) (17,749) 10,668 4,760 78,137
Dividends &) - = = 15,133 22,537
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
At 30 June
RiA=tH
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
B+t ZET-RFE CT-HF —T-MNFE —T-=%
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEAE 1,801,716 3,561,067 3,692,025 3,443,636 3,435,694
Total liabilities BELE 124,519 127,270 227,072 223,893 196,828
Shareholders’ funds KEES 1,677,197 3,433,797 3,464,953 3,219,743 3,238,866
Equity attributable to owners ANAFHA AEAER
of the Company 1,677,197 3,433,797 3,438,988 3,195,647 3,217,105
Non-controlling interests AR R A - — 25,965 24,196 21,761
1,677,197 3,433,797 3,464,953 3,219,743 3,238,866
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